PAPER

Calibration of advanced Virgo and reconstruction of the detector strain h(t) during the observing run O3

To cite this article: F Acernese et al 2022 Class. Quantum Grav. 39 045006

View the article online for updates and enhancements.

You may also like

- LOCALIZATION AND BROADBAND FOLLOW-UP OF THE GRAVITATIONAL-WAVE TRANSIENT GW150914 B. P. Abbott, R. Abbott, T. D. Abbott et al.
- A Joint Fermi-GBM and LIGO/Virgo Analysis of Compact Binary Mergers from the First and Second Gravitational-wave Observing Runs R. Hamburg, C. Fletcher, E. Burns et al.
- Search for Eccentric Binary Black Hole Mergers with Advanced LIGO and Advanced Virgo during Their First and Second Observing Runs
 B. P. Abbott, R. Abbott, T. D. Abbott et al.

This content was downloaded from IP address 131.211.12.11 on 22/02/2023 at 11:25

Class. Quantum Grav. 39 (2022) 045006 (50pp)

Calibration of advanced Virgo and reconstruction of the detector strain h(t) during the observing run O3

F Acernese^{1,2}, M Agathos³, A Ain⁴, S Albanesi⁵, A Allocca^{2,6}, A Amato⁷, T Andrade⁸, N Andres⁹, T Andric¹⁰, S Ansoldi^{11,12}, S Antier¹³, M Arène¹³, N Arnaud^{14,15}, M Assiduo^{16,17}, P Astone¹⁸, F Aubin⁹, S Babak¹³, F Badaracco¹⁹, M K M Bader²⁰, S Bagnasco⁵, J Baird¹³, G Ballardin¹⁵, G Baltus²¹, C Barbieri^{22,23,24}, P Barneo⁸, F Barone^{2,25}, M Barsuglia¹³, D Barta²⁶, A Basti^{4,27}, M Bawaj^{28,29}, M Bazzan^{30,31}, M Bejger³², I Belahcene¹⁴, V Benedetto³³, S Bernuzzi³, D Bersanetti³⁴, A Bertolini²⁰, U Bhardwaj^{20,35}, S Bini^{36,37}, M Bischi^{16,17}, M Bitossi^{4,15}, M-A Bizouard³⁸, F Bobba^{39,40}, M Boer³⁸, G Bogaert³⁸, M Boldrini^{18,41}, L D Bonavena³⁰, F Bondu⁴², R Bonnand⁹, B A Boom²⁰, V Boschi⁴, V Boudart²¹, Y Bouffanais^{30,31}, A Bozzi¹⁵, C Bradaschia⁴, M Branchesi^{10,43}, M Breschi³, T Briant⁴⁴, A Brillet³⁸, J Brooks¹⁵. G Bruno¹⁹. T Bulik⁴⁵. H J Bulten²⁰. D Buskulic⁹, C Buy⁴⁶, G Cagnoli⁷, E Calloni^{2,6}, M Canepa^{34,47}, S Canevarolo⁴⁸, M Cannavacciuolo³⁹ G Carapella^{39,40}, F Carbognani¹⁵, M Carpinelli^{15,49,50}, G Carullo^{4,27}, J Casanueva Diaz¹⁵, C Casentini^{51,52}, S Caudill^{20,48}, F Cavalier¹⁴, R Cavalieri¹⁵, G Cella⁴, P Cerdá-Durán⁵³, E Cesarini⁵², W Chaibi³⁸, P Chanial¹⁵, E Chassande-Mottin¹³, S Chaty¹³, F Chiadini^{40,54}, G Chiarini³¹, R Chierici⁵⁵, A Chincarini³⁴, M L Chiofalo^{4,27}, A Chiummo¹⁵, N Christensen³⁸, G Ciani^{30,31}, M Cieślar³², P Ciecielag³², M Cifaldi^{51,52}, R Ciolfi^{31,56}, F Cipriano³⁸, A Cirone^{34,47}, S Clesse⁵⁷, F Cleva³⁸, E Coccia^{10,43}, E Codazzo¹⁰, P-F Cohadon⁴⁴, D E Cohen¹⁴, A Colombo²², M Colpi^{22,23}, L Conti³¹, I Cordero-Carrión⁵⁸, S Corezzi^{28,29}, D Corre¹⁴, S Cortese¹⁵, J-P Coulon³⁸, M Croquette⁴⁴, J R Cudell²¹, E Cuoco^{4,15,59}, M Curyło⁴⁵, P Dabadie⁷, T Dal Canton¹⁴, S Dall'Osso¹⁰, B D'Angelo^{34,47}, S Danilishin^{20,60}, S D'Antonio⁵², V Dattilo¹⁵, M Davier¹⁴,

M De Laurentis^{2,6}, F De Lillo¹⁹, F De Matteis^{51,52}, R De Pietri^{61,62}, R De Rosa^{2,6}, C De Rossi¹⁵, R De Simone⁵⁴, J Degallaix⁶³, S Deléglise⁴⁴, W Del Pozzo^{4,27}, A Depasse¹⁹, L Di Fiore², C Di Giorgio^{39,40}, F Di Giovanni⁵³, M Di Giovanni¹⁰, T Di Girolamo^{2,6}, A Di Lieto^{4,27}, S Di Pace^{18,41}, I Di Palma^{18,41}, F Di Renzo^{4,27}, T Dietrich²⁰, L D'Onofrio^{2,6}, M Drago^{18,41}, J-G Ducoin¹⁴, O Durante^{39,40}, D D'Urso^{49,50}, P-A Duverne¹⁴, M Eisenmann⁹, L Errico^{2,6}, D Estevez⁶⁴, V Fafone^{10,51,52}, S Farinon³⁴, G Favaro³⁰, M Fays²¹, E Fenyvesi^{26,65}, I Ferrante^{4,27}, F Fidecaro^{4,27}, P Figura⁴⁵, I Fiori¹⁵, R Fittipaldi^{40,66}, V Fiumara^{40,67}, R Flaminio^{9,68}, J A Font^{53,69}, S Frasca^{18,41}, F Frasconi⁴, G G Fronzé⁵, R Gamba³, B Garaventa^{34,47}, F Garufi^{2,6}, G Gemme³⁴, A Gennai⁴, Archisman Ghosh⁷⁰, B Giacomazzo^{22,23,24}, L Giacoppo^{18,41}, P Giri^{4,27}, F Gissi³³, B Goncharov¹⁰, M Gosselin¹⁵, R Gouaty⁹, A Grado^{2,71}, M Granata⁶³, V Granata³⁹, G Greco²⁸, G Grignani^{28,29}, A Grimaldi^{36,37}, S J Grimm^{10,43}, P Gruning¹⁴, D Guerra⁵³, G M Guidi^{16,17}, G Guixé⁸, Y Guo²⁰, P Gupta^{20,48}, L Haegel¹³, O Halim^{12,72}, O Hannuksela^{20,48}, T Harder³⁸, K Haris^{20,48}, J Harms^{10,43}, B Haskell³², A Heidmann⁴⁴, H Heitmann³⁸, P Hello¹⁴, G Hemming¹⁵, E Hennes²⁰, S Hild^{20,60}, D Hofman⁶³, V Hui⁹, B ldzkowski⁴⁵, A less^{51,52}, T Jacqmin⁴⁴, J Janquart^{20,48}, K Janssens^{38,73}, P Jaranowski⁷⁴, R J G Jonker²⁰, V Juste⁶⁴, F Kéfélian³⁸, C Kalaghatgi⁴⁸, C Karathanasis⁷⁵, S Katsanevas¹⁵, N Khetan^{10,43}, G Koekoek^{20,60}, S Koley¹⁰, M Kolstein⁷⁵, A Królak^{76,77}, P Kuijer²⁰, I La Rosa⁹, P Lagabbe⁹, D Laghi^{4,27}, A Lamberts^{38,78}, A Lartaux-Vollard¹⁴, C Lazzaro^{30,31}, P Leaci^{18,41}, A Lemaître⁷⁹, N Leroy¹⁴, N Letendre⁹, K Leyde¹³, F Linde^{20,80}, M Llorens-Monteagudo⁵³, A Longo^{81,82}, M Lopez Portilla⁴⁸, M Lorenzini^{51,52}, V Loriette⁸³, G Losurdo⁴, D Lumaca^{51,52}, A Macquet³⁸, C Magazzù⁴, M Magnozzi^{34,47}, E Majorana^{18,41}, I Maksimovic⁸³, N Man³⁸, V Mangano^{18,41}, M Mantovani¹⁵, M Mapelli^{30,31}, F Marchesoni^{28,84,85}, F Marion⁹, A Marquina⁵⁸, S Marsat¹³, F Martelli^{16,17}, M Martinez⁷⁵, V Martinez⁷, A Masserot⁹, S Mastrogiovanni¹³, Q Meijer⁴⁸, A Menendez-Vazquez⁷⁵, L Mereni⁶³, M Merzougui³⁸, A Miani^{36,37}, C Michel⁶³, L Milano⁶, A Miller¹⁹, B Miller^{20,35}, E Milotti^{12,72}, O Minazzoli^{38,86}, Y Minenkov⁵², LI M Mir⁷⁵, M Miravet-Tenés⁵³, M Montani^{16,17}, F Morawski³², B Mours⁶⁴, F Muciaccia^{18,41}, Suvodip Mukherjee³⁵, R Musenich^{34,47}, A Nagar^{5,87}, V Napolano¹⁵,

I Nardecchia^{51,52}, L Naticchioni¹⁸, J Neilson^{33,40}, G Nelemans⁸⁸, C Nguyen¹³, S Nissanke^{20,35}, E Nitoglia⁵⁵, F Nocera¹⁵, G Oganesyan^{10,43}, C Olivetto¹⁵, C Périgois⁹, G Pagano^{4,27}, G Pagliaroli^{10,43}, C Palomba¹⁸, P T H Pang^{20,48}, F Pannarale^{18,41}, F Paoletti⁴, A Paoli¹⁵, A Paolone^{18,89}, D Pascucci²⁰, A Pasqualetti¹⁵, R Passaquieti^{4,27}. D Passuello⁴. B Patricelli^{4,15}. M Pegoraro³¹, A Perego^{36,37}, A Pereira⁷, A Perreca^{36,37}, S Perriès⁵⁵, K S Phukon^{20,80}, O J Piccinni¹⁸, M Pichot³⁸, M Piendibene^{4,27}, F Piergiovanni^{16,17}, L Pierini^{18,41}, V Pierro^{33,40}, G Pillant¹⁵, M Pillas¹⁴, F Pilo⁴, L Pinard⁶³, I M Pinto^{33,40,90}, M Pinto¹⁵, K Piotrzkowski¹⁹, E Placidi^{18,41}, W Plastino^{81,82}, R Poggiani^{4,27}, E Polini⁹, P Popolizio¹⁵, E K Porter¹³, R Poulton¹⁵, M Pracchia⁹, T Pradier⁶⁴, M Principe^{33,40,90}, G A Prodi^{37,91}, P Prosposito^{51,52}, A Puecher^{20,48}, M Punturo²⁸, F Puosi^{4,27}, P Puppo¹⁸, G Raaijmakers^{20,35}, N Radulesco³⁸, P Rapagnani^{18,41}, M Razzano^{4,27}, T Regimbau⁹, L Rei³⁴, P Rettegno^{5,92}, F Ricci^{18,41}, G Riemenschneider^{5,92}, S Rinaldi^{4,27}, F Robinet¹⁴, A Rocchi⁵², L Rolland⁹, M Romanelli⁴² R Romano^{1,2}, A Romero-Rodríguez⁷⁵, S Ronchini^{10,43}, L Rosa^{2,6}, D Rosińska⁴⁵, S Roy⁴⁸, D Rozza^{49,50}, P Ruggi¹⁵, O S Salafia^{22,23,24}, L Salconi¹⁵, F Salemi^{36,37}, A Samajdar^{20,48}, N Sanchis-Gual⁹³, A Sanuy⁸, B Sassolas⁶³, S Sayah⁶³, S Schmidt⁴⁸, M Seglar-Arroyo⁹, D Sentenac¹⁵, V Sequino^{2,6}, Y Setyawati⁴⁸, A Sharma^{10,43}, N S Shcheblanov⁷⁹, M Sieniawska⁴⁵, N Singh⁴⁵, A Singha^{20,60}, V Sipala^{49,50}, J Soldateschi^{17,94,95}, V Sordini⁵⁵, F Sorrentino³⁴, N Sorrentino^{4,27}, R Soulard³⁸, V Spagnuolo^{20,60}, M Spera^{30,31}, R Srinivasan³⁸, C Stachie³⁸, D A Steer¹³, J Steinlechner^{20,60}, S Steinlechner^{20,60}, G Stratta^{17,96}, A Sur³², B L Swinkels²⁰, P Szewczyk⁴⁵, M Tacca²⁰, A J Tanasijczuk¹⁹, E N Tapia San Martín²⁰, C Taranto⁵¹, M Tonelli^{4,27}, A Torres-Forné⁵³, I Tosta e Melo^{49,50}, A Trapananti^{28,84}, F Travasso^{28,84}, M C Tringali¹⁵, L Troiano^{40,97}, A Trovato¹³, L Trozzo², K W Tsang^{20,48,98}, K Turbang^{73,99}, M Turconi³⁸, A Utina^{20,60}, M Valentini^{36,37}, N van Bakel²⁰, M van Beuzekom²⁰, J F J van den Brand^{20,60,100}, C van den Broeck^{20,48}. L van der Schaaf²⁰. J V van Heijningen¹⁹, N van Remortel⁷³, M Vardaro^{20,80}, M Vasúth²⁶, G Vedovato³¹, D Verkindt⁹, P Verma⁷⁷, F Vetrano¹⁶, A Viceré^{16,17}, J-Y Vinet³⁸, A Virtuoso^{12,72}, H Vocca^{28,29}, R C Walet²⁰, M Was⁹, A Zadrozny⁷⁷, T Zelenova¹⁵, J-P Zendri³¹ (The Virgo Collaboration)

3

¹ Dipartimento di Farmacia, Università di Salerno, I-84084 Fisciano, Salerno, Italy

² INFN, Sezione di Napoli, Complesso Universitario di Monte S. Angelo, I-80126 Napoli, Italy

³ Theoretisch-Physikalisches Institut, Friedrich-Schiller-Universitt Jena, D-07743 Jena, Germany

⁴ INFN, Sezione di Pisa, I-56127 Pisa, Italy

⁵ INFN Sezione di Torino, I-10125 Torino, Italy

⁶ Università di Napoli 'Federico II', Complesso Universitario di Monte S. Angelo, I-80126 Napoli, Italy

⁷ Université de Lyon, Université Claude Bernard Lyon 1, CNRS, Institut Lumière Matière, F-69622 Villeurbanne, France

⁸ Institut de Ciències del Cosmos (ICCUB), Universitat de Barcelona, C/Martí i Franquès 1, Barcelona, 08028, Spain

⁹ Laboratoire d'Annecy de Physique des Particules (LAPP), Univ. Grenoble Alpes, Université Savoie Mont Blanc, CNRS/IN2P3, F-74941 Annecy, France

¹⁰ Gran Sasso Science Institute (GSSI), I-67100 L'Aquila, Italy

¹¹ Dipartimento di Scienze Matematiche, Informatiche e Fisiche, Università di Udine, I-33100 Udine, Italy

¹² INFN, Sezione di Trieste, I-34127 Trieste, Italy

¹³ Université de Paris, CNRS, Astroparticule et Cosmologie, F-75006 Paris, France

¹⁴ Université Paris-Saclay, CNRS/IN2P3, IJCLab, 91405 Orsay, France

¹⁵ European Gravitational Observatory (EGO), I-56021 Cascina, Pisa, Italy

¹⁶ Università degli Studi di Urbino 'Carlo Bo', I-61029 Urbino, Italy

¹⁷ INFN, Sezione di Firenze, I-50019 Sesto Fiorentino, Firenze, Italy

¹⁸ INFN, Sezione di Roma, I-00185 Roma, Italy

¹⁹ Université catholique de Louvain, B-1348 Louvain-la-Neuve, Belgium

²⁰ Nikhef, Science Park 105, 1098 XG Amsterdam, The Netherlands

²¹ Université de Liège, B-4000 Liège, Belgium

²² Università degli Studi di Milano-Bicocca, I-20126 Milano, Italy

²³ INFN, Sezione di Milano-Bicocca, I-20126 Milano, Italy

²⁴ INAF, Osservatorio Astronomico di Brera sede di Merate, I-23807 Merate, Lecco, Italy

²⁵ Dipartimento di Medicina, Chirurgia e Odontoiatria 'Scuola Medica Salernitana', Università di Salerno, I-84081 Baronissi, Salerno, Italy

²⁶ Wigner RCP, RMKI, H-1121 Budapest, Konkoly Thege Miklós út 29-33, Hungary

²⁷ Università di Pisa, I-56127 Pisa, Italy

²⁸ INFN, Sezione di Perugia, I-06123 Perugia, Italy

²⁹ Università di Perugia, I-06123 Perugia, Italy

³⁰ Dipartimento di Fisica e Astronomia, Università di Padova, I-35131 Padova, Italy

³¹ INFN, Sezione di Padova, I-35131 Padova, Italy

³² Nicolaus Copernicus Astronomical Center, Polish Academy of Sciences, 00-716, Warsaw, Poland

³³ Dipartimento di Ingegneria, Università del Sannio, I-82100 Benevento, Italy

³⁴ INFN, Sezione di Genova, I-16146 Genova, Italy

³⁵ GRAPPA, Anton Pannekoek Institute for Astronomy and Institute for

High-Energy Physics, University of Amsterdam, Science Park 904, 1098 XH Amsterdam, The Netherlands

³⁶ Dipartimento di Fisica, Università di Trento, I-38123 Povo, Trento, Italy

³⁷ INFN, Trento Institute for Fundamental Physics and Applications, I-38123 Povo, Trento, Italy

³⁸ Artemis, Université Côte d'Azur, Observatoire de la Côte d'Azur, CNRS, F-06304 Nice, France ³⁹ Dipartimento di Fisica 'E.R. Caianiello', Università di Salerno, I-84084 Fisciano, Salerno, Italy

⁴⁰ INFN, Sezione di Napoli, Gruppo Collegato di Salerno, Complesso Universitario

⁴² Univ Rennes, CNRS, Institut FOTON-UMR6082, F-3500 Rennes, France

⁴³ INFN, Laboratori Nazionali del Gran Sasso, I-67100 Assergi, Italy

⁴⁴ Laboratoire Kastler Brossel, ENS-Université PSL, CNRS, Sorbonne Université, Collège de France, F-75005 Paris, France

⁴⁵ Astronomical Observatory Warsaw University, 00-478 Warsaw, Poland

⁴⁶ L2IT, Laboratoire des 2 Infinis - Toulouse, Université de Toulouse, CNRS/IN2P3, UPS, F-31062 Toulouse Cedex 9, France

⁴⁷ Dipartimento di Fisica, Università degli Studi di Genova, I-16146 Genova, Italy

⁴⁸ Institute for Gravitational and Subatomic Physics (GRASP), Utrecht University,

Princetonplein 1, 3584 CC Utrecht, The Netherlands

⁴⁹ Università degli Studi di Sassari, I-07100 Sassari, Italy

⁵⁰ INFN, Laboratori Nazionali del Sud, I-95125 Catania, Italy

⁵¹ Università di Roma Tor Vergata, I-00133 Roma, Italy

⁵² INFN, Sezione di Roma Tor Vergata, I-00133 Roma, Italy

⁵³ Departamento de Astronomía y Astrofísica, Universitat de València, E-46100 Burjassot, València, Spain

⁵⁴ Dipartimento di Ingegneria Industriale (DIIN), Università di Salerno, I-84084 Fisciano, Salerno, Italy

⁵⁵ Université Lyon, Université Claude Bernard Lyon 1, CNRS, IP2I Lyon/IN2P3, UMR 5822, F-69622 Villeurbanne, France

⁵⁶ INAF, Osservatorio Astronomico di Padova, I-35122 Padova, Italy

⁵⁷ Université libre de Bruxelles, Avenue Franklin Roosevelt 50-1050 Bruxelles, Belgium

⁵⁸ Departamento de Matemáticas, Universitat de València, E-46100 Burjassot, València, Spain

⁵⁹ Scuola Normale Superiore, Piazza dei Cavalieri, 7-56126 Pisa, Italy

⁶⁰ Maastricht University, PO Box 616, 6200 MD Maastricht, The Netherlands

⁶¹ Dipartimento di Scienze Matematiche, Fisiche e Informatiche, Università di Parma, I-43124 Parma, Italy

⁶² INFN, Sezione di Milano Bicocca, Gruppo Collegato di Parma, I-43124 Parma, Italy

⁶³ Laboratoire des Matériaux Avancés (LMA), IP2I-UMR 5822, CNRS, Université Lyon, Université Claude Bernard Lyon 1, Lyon/IN2P3, F-69622 Villeurbanne, France

⁶⁴ Université de Strasbourg, CNRS, IPHC UMR 7178, F-67000 Strasbourg, France

⁶⁵ Institute for Nuclear Research, Hungarian Academy of Sciences, Bem t'er 18/c,
 H-4026 Debrecen, Hungary

⁶⁶ CNR-SPIN, c/o Università di Salerno, I-84084 Fisciano, Salerno, Italy

⁶⁷ Scuola di Ingegneria, Università della Basilicata, I-85100 Potenza, Italy

⁶⁸ Gravitational Wave Science Project, National Astronomical Observatory of Japan (NAOJ), Mitaka City, Tokyo 181-8588, Japan

⁶⁹ Observatori Astronòmic, Universitat de València, E-46980 Paterna, València, Spain

⁷⁰ Universiteit Gent, B-9000 Gent, Belgium

⁷¹ INAF, Osservatorio Astronomico di Capodimonte, I-80131 Napoli, Italy

⁷² Dipartimento di Fisica, Università di Trieste, I-34127 Trieste, Italy

⁷³ Universiteit Antwerpen, Prinsstraat 13, 2000 Antwerpen, Belgium

⁷⁴ University of Białystok, 15-424 Białystok, Poland

di Monte S. Angelo, I-80126 Napoli, Italy

⁴¹ Università di Roma 'La Sapienza', I-00185 Roma, Italy

⁷⁵ Institut de Física d'Altes Energies (IFAE), Barcelona Institute of Science and Technology, and ICREA, E-08193 Barcelona, Spain

⁷⁶ Institute of Mathematics, Polish Academy of Sciences, 00656 Warsaw, Poland

⁷⁷ National Center for Nuclear Research, 05-400 Świerk-Otwock, Poland

⁷⁸ Laboratoire Lagrange, Université Côte d'Azur, Observatoire Côte d'Azur, CNRS, F-06304 Nice, France

⁷⁹ NAVIER, École des Ponts, Univ Gustave Eiffel, CNRS, Marne-la-Vallée, France
 ⁸⁰ Institute for High-Energy Physics, University of Amsterdam, Science Park 904, 1098 XH Amsterdam, The Netherlands

⁸¹ Dipartimento di Matematica e Fisica, Università degli Studi Roma Tre, I-00146 Roma, Italy

82 INFN, Sezione di Roma Tre, I-00146 Roma, Italy

⁸³ ESPCI, CNRS, F-75005 Paris, France

⁸⁴ Dipartimento di Fisica, Università di Camerino, I-62032 Camerino, Italy

⁸⁵ School of Physics Science and Engineering, Tongji University, Shanghai 200092, People's Republic of China

⁸⁶ Centre Scientifique de Monaco, 8 quai Antoine Ier, MC-98000, Monaco

⁸⁷ Institut des Hautes Etudes Scientifiques, F-91440 Bures-sur-Yvette, France

⁸⁸ Department of Astrophysics/IMAPP, Radboud University Nijmegen, PO Box 9010, 6500 GL Nijmegen, The Netherlands

⁸⁹ Consiglio Nazionale delle Ricerche-Istituto dei Sistemi Complessi, Piazzale Aldo Moro 5, I-00185 Roma, Italy

⁹⁰ Museo Storico della Fisica e Centro Studi e Ricerche 'Enrico Fermi', I-00184 Roma, Italy

⁹¹ Dipartimento di Matematica, Università di Trento, I-38123 Povo, Trento, Italy

⁹² Dipartimento di Fisica, Università degli Studi di Torino, I-10125 Torino, Italy

⁹³ Departamento de Matemática da Universidade de Aveiro and Centre for Research and Development in Mathematics and Applications, Campus de Santiago, 3810-183 Aveiro, Portugal

⁹⁴ Università di Firenze, Sesto Fiorentino I-50019, Italy

95 INAF, Osservatorio Astrofisico di Arcetri, Largo E. Fermi 5, I-50125 Firenze, Italy

⁹⁶ INAF, Osservatorio di Astrofisica e Scienza dello Spazio, I-40129 Bologna, Italy

⁹⁷ Dipartimento di Scienze Aziendali-Management and Innovation Systems

(DISA-MIS), Università di Salerno, I-84084 Fisciano, Salerno, Italy

⁹⁸ Van Swinderen Institute for Particle Physics and Gravity, University of Groningen, Nijenborgh 4, 9747 AG Groningen, The Netherlands

⁹⁹ Vrije Universiteit Brussel, Boulevard de la Plaine 2, 1050 Ixelles, Belgium
 ¹⁰⁰ Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, 1081 HV Amsterdam, The Netherlands

E-mail: veb@ego-gw.it

Received 7 July 2021, revised 16 November 2021 Accepted for publication 23 November 2021 Published 21 January 2022



Abstract

The three advanced Virgo and LIGO gravitational wave detectors participated to the third observing run (O3) between 1 April 2019 15:00 UTC and 27 March 2020 17:00 UTC, leading to several gravitational wave detections per month. This paper describes the advanced Virgo detector calibration and the reconstruction of the detector strain h(t) during O3, as well as the estimation of the associated uncertainties. For the first time, the photon calibration technique as been used as reference for Virgo calibration, which allowed to cross-calibrate

the strain amplitude of the Virgo and LIGO detectors. The previous reference, so-called free swinging Michelson technique, has still been used but as an independent cross-check. h(t) reconstruction and noise subtraction were processed online, with good enough quality to prevent the need for offline reprocessing, except for the two last weeks of September 2019. The uncertainties for the reconstructed h(t) strain, estimated in this paper in a 20–2000 Hz frequency band, are frequency independent: 5% in amplitude, 35 mrad in phase and 10 μ s in timing, with the exception of larger uncertainties around 50 Hz.

Keywords: gravitational wave, strain reconstruction, Virgo, O3 observing run, calibration, strain uncertainties

(Some figures may appear in colour only in the online journal)

Contents

1.	1. Introduction8						
2.	The a	advance	d Virgo detector during O3	9			
	2.1.	Mirro	or longitudinal actuation	11			
	2.2.	Sensi	ng of the interferometer output power and control loops	12			
3.	. Main Virgo calibration changes since the observing run O2 12						
4.	Calibration of advanced Virgo timing and sensing 13						
5.	Calib	oration c	of the electromagnetic actuators using the photon calibrators	13			
	5.1.	A ser	ies of calibration transfers	14			
	5.2.	Calib	ration of the NE and WE mirror actuators	15			
		5.2.1.	Power calibration of the photon calibrators	15			
		5.2.2.	Calibration transfer from PCals to end mirror actuators	16			
		5.2.3.	Stability of the NE weekly measurements during O3	17			
		5.2.4.	Average of the NE weekly data and actuator model fit	18			
		5.2.5.	Comparison of NE mirror final O3 model with the online models	19			
		5.2.6.	Stability of the WE weekly measurements during O3	20			
		5.2.7.	Comparison of WE mirror final O3 model with the online models	21			
		5.2.8.	Permanent monitoring of mirror actuators during O3	21			
	5.3.	Calib	ration of the NE and WE marionette actuators	23			
	5.4.	Calib	ration of WI, NI, BS and PR actuators	24			
		5.4.1.	Calibration of NI and WI mirror actuators	24			
		5.4.2.	Calibration of BS and PR mirror actuators	25			
		5.4.3.	Calibration of marionette actuators (BS, NI, WI)	26			
	5.5.	Detec	ctor calibration uncertainties estimation	26			
6.	Com	parison	with calibration using free swinging Michelson technique	26			
	6.1.	Note	on the advanced Virgo photodiode readout	27			
	6.2.	Limit	ations of free swinging Michelson during O3	28			
	6.3. Comparison with the reference calibration 28						
7.	Reco	onstructi	on of the detector strain $h(t)$ and noise subtraction	29			
	7.1.	Princ	iple	29			
	7.2.	Main	changes with respect to O2	31			
	7.3. $h(t)$ reconstruction 32						

		7.3.1.	Monitoring of time varying parameters: optical gains and cavity	
			finesse	32
		7.3.2.	Notes on violin modes not modeled in actuator responses	33
		7.3.3.	Notes on optical response at low frequency	33
	7.4.	Noise	e subtraction	33
		7.4.1.	Principle	33
		7.4.2.	Selection of noise-witness channels	35
		7.4.3.	Performances during O3	35
8.	Estin	nation o	f $h(t)$ uncertainties	38
	8.1.	Week	ly measurements with sinusoidal excitation	39
	8.2.	Week	ly measurements with broadband excitation	43
	8.3.	Perm	anent monitoring of $h(t)$ during O3	43
	8.4.	h(t) u	ncertainties	46
9.	Conc	lusion		47
	Ack	nowledg	gments	48
	Ref	erences		49

1. Introduction

The advanced Virgo detector [1, 2] is located near Pisa (Italy) and is looking for gravitational waves sources emitted by astrophysical compact sources in the frequency range 10 Hz to a few kHz. The O3 observing run started on 1st April 2019 and ended on 27th March 2020. The network of detectors was composed of the advanced Virgo interferometer [3, 4] and of the two advanced LIGO interferometers [5–7]. Data from the three detectors have been used together to search for gravitational wave sources [8]. During this run, 56 candidate gravitational-wave events were identified by low latency compact binary coalescence searches using data from at least one of the three detectors [9]. The run has been divided into two periods of about six months each, O3a (1st April 2019 to 30th September 2019) and O3b (1st November 2019 to 27th March 2020). The catalog of the detections made until the end of O3a contains the first 39 events of the run [10].

The advanced Virgo optical configuration for O3 consisted in a power-recycled interferometer with 3 kilometers long high finesse (about 450) Fabry–Perot cavities in the arms, monolithic suspensions and mirrors thermal compensation system [1, 2]. Signal recycling [11] was not implemented yet.

The gravitational wave strain couples to the longitudinal length degree of freedom of the interferometer. To operate the interferometer, the relative positions of the different mirrors are precisely controlled [1]. In the control bandwidth, up to a few hundred hertz, the interferometer response to gravitational wave is modified. Above a few hundred hertz, the suspended mirrors behave as free falling masses around their position. The length variations induced by a passing gravitational wave induce power variations at the output of the interferometer.

The main purpose of the Virgo calibration is to reconstruct over a wide frequency band the dimensionless amplitude h(t) of the detector strain from the knowledge of both the output signal and the controls of the interferometer. The detector strain describes the projection of the gravitational wave strain onto the Virgo interferometer.

In the long wavelength approximation [12], the differential length of the interferometer arms, $\Delta L = L_x - L_y$, is related to the detector strain *h* by:

$$h = \frac{\Delta L}{L_0} \quad \text{where } L_0 = 3 \text{ km.}$$
(1)

For coherent search of gravitational waves with multiple detectors, the sign of h(t) must be well defined across detectors. For Virgo, L_x and L_y respectively stand for the North and the West arm lengths.

The principle of the h(t) reconstruction is the same as that described in [13, 14]: to remove from the dark fringe output signal the contributions of the controls signals. This requires to calibrate the responses of the mirror actuators, the detection photodiodes readout electronics and the interferometer optical response.

Absolute timing is also a critical parameter to estimate the direction of the gravitational wave source in the sky. Since the typical timing accuracy of the searches is of the order of 0.1 ms [8], absolute timing precision must be of the order of 0.01 ms or less [14].

The scope of this paper is to give an overview of the advanced Virgo calibration and h(t) reconstruction during the run O3, and to describe the associated systematic uncertainties. The calibration is based on the photon calibrator (PCal) [15, 16] and is thus different from the free Michelson technique which was developed for the initial Virgo detector, used in previous observing run O2 (August 2017) and described in [13, 14, 17]. A similar work has been done in LIGO [18].

In section 2, we briefly give an overview of the Virgo detector components that are relevant for calibration during O3, emphasizing the differences with respect to the O2 advanced Virgo configuration.

Section 3 describes how the calibration procedures were modified since the O2 run. In sections 4 and 5, we describe the calibration of the photodiode readout and mirror actuation and in section 5.5 we provide the systematic uncertainties of each calibration step. Section 6 is dedicated to the comparison of the current calibration results with the results obtained with the free Michelson technique.

Section 7.3 shows how the h(t) values have been reconstructed using the parameters, delays and transfer functions (TFs) determined by the calibration. Online linear noise subtraction have been run to reduce some noise in the h(t) channel as described in section 7.4. In section 8, we also describe the various checks done on the h(t) channel and their use to estimate the systematic uncertainties for amplitude, phase and timing of h(t).

For O3, the online version of the h(t) reconstruction has been used to provide h(t) in real time and no further full reprocessing has been needed, except for the last two weeks of O3a. It provided h(t) with a latency of about 8 s to the low-latency gravitational wave searches that triggered alerts to our multi-messenger partners. This online reconstruction was based on the calibration parameters estimated with the data taken before the start of O3. Except when stated otherwise, the results shown in this paper pertain to the final detector calibration and uncertainties estimation (based on calibration data acquired during the whole run), and to the online reconstructed strain h(t) (computed with initial calibration based on a limited set of calibration data).

2. The advanced Virgo detector during O3

Most of the detector characteristics relevant to the calibration and reconstruction described in [13, 17] for initial Virgo and in [14] for O2 advanced Virgo were still valid for advanced



Figure 1. Configuration of the advanced Virgo interferometer during the O3 run and sketch of the differential arm length control loop (so-called DARM). The input beam is sent into the Virgo interferometer and split by the beam splitter (BS) toward the North (N) and West (W) arms. The arms are 3 km long Fabry–Perot cavities between the input (NI and WI) and end mirrors (NE and WE). Since the interferometer is locked close to a dark fringe, the power recycling mirror (PR) is used to enhance the power on the BS mirror. At the interferometer output port, photodiodes are used to measure the output power, with sensing response *S*, providing the channel \mathcal{P}_{DC} . It is used as an error signal for the differential arm length control loop. The correction signal is then used to control the NE and WE mirror positions: it is split between both mirrors *i* whose actuation responses are A_i . Mirror excitation can be applied via $zCAL_i$ and zHI_i . The channel zC_i is the sum of the correction signal and $zCAL_i$, while zHI_i is added later and not visible is zC_i . The main difference between both paths is about the so-called hardware injections that are described later in this paper.

Virgo during O3. They are briefly summarized in this section, with emphasis on the relevant modifications that have been done with respect to the O2 advanced Virgo detector's configuration.

The optical configuration of the O3 advanced Virgo is a power-recycled interferometer with Fabry–Perot cavities as shown in figure 1. All the mirrors of the interferometer are suspended to a chain of pendulums for seismic isolation. The last suspension stage is a monolithic silica fiber fused to the mirror on one side and attached to a marionette on the upper side (see section 2.1).

The input beam is provided by a laser with a wavelength $\lambda = 1064$ nm. The power at the input of the interferometer during O3 was about 25 W. The finesse of the 3 km long Fabry–Perot cavities in the arms was 450. The resulting increase of light power in the arms induced input mirrors deformation and required a thermal compensation system that was not used during O2. The readout of the interferometer main output signal is based on homodyne (or DC) detection [2] and the used photodiode signal is proportional to the interferometer differential arm length (so-called DARM). A small differential arm length offset is needed for the homodyne detection

technique. To reduce some noise coupling, this offset has been reduced during the Virgo commissioning period before the start of O3, reducing the power impinging on the photodiodes. As a consequence, the analog readout electronics has been adapted.

Frequency-independent squeezing technique [3, 4] was installed and used during O3 to reduce the quantum noise limit above a few hundreds hertz. The efficiency of the squeezing technique is limited in particular by the optical losses in the light detection: as a consequence, new photodiodes, with quantum efficiency higher than 99% were installed to readout the main output beam a few weeks before O3 started, along with modified analog electronics. The analog electronics has been again modified (implying the use of different photodiodes, even if of same type) in January 2020, a few weeks before the end of the O3 run, to reduce electronic noise.

In order to keep a destructive interference at the interferometer output port, the interferometer arm length difference is controlled with a slight offset to allow for DC detection.

The other degrees of freedom are controlled by phase-modulating the laser beam at various frequencies in the MHz band (8 and 56 MHz among others) and using as error signals the demodulated signals of photodiodes located at various places of the interferometer.

One degree of freedom of interest for calibration is the differential length of the Michelson made of the BS, NI and WI mirrors. The correction signal for this degree of freedom is applied to the BS mirror. The NI and WI mirrors were not controlled during the run O3.

Data from the interferometer are sampled at 10 kHz or 20 kHz and are time-stamped using the global positioning system (GPS).

2.1. Mirror longitudinal actuation

Each Virgo mirror is suspended to a complex seismic isolation system made of a chain of seismic filters [19]. The bottom part is a double stage system with the so-called *marionette* as the first pendulum. The mirror is suspended to the marionette by pairs of thin silica fibers fused to the mirror [20]. As for the O2 run, the reference mass is suspended to the seismic filter above the marionette. The resonances being below 1 Hz, the mechanical response above 10 Hz, which is to be taken into account for the calibration, has a simple $1/f^2$ behavior.

The positions of the marionette and mirror are adjusted with electromagnetic (EM) actuators: permanent magnets are attached to the marionettes and on the back of the mirrors and a set of coils is attached to the reference mass. Electronics is used to drive the current in every coil and to steer the suspended objects. On the end mirrors and BS mirror, the longitudinal controls are distributed between the marionette (up to a few tens of Hertz) and the mirror (up to a few hundred Hertz). Taking in addition the contribution of the different control signals into the detector strain, the actuation responses of the marionette and mirror of the NE and WE mirrors need to be measured up to ~100 Hz and up to ~1 kHz respectively. The calibration of BS and PR actuators can be limited to lower frequencies.

The actuation response includes the actuator itself and the response of the suspended mirror. The actuator is composed of a digital part, a digital-to-analog converter (DAC), and the analog electronics which converts the DAC output voltage into a current flowing through the coil. The actuator electronics have in general different modes: a mode with low-noise but small actuation dynamic, that is used when the interferometer is at its standard working point (socalled observing mode), and a mode with higher actuation dynamics, but more noise, that is used during interferometer lock acquisition. The calibration consists in calibrating the actuators in their low-noise mode, as used during observation periods.

Between the O2 and the O3 runs, in order to reduce the thermal noise from the suspensions, the arm cavity payloads have been removed to replace the steel wires by the monolithic silica

fibers. The same mirrors with their EM actuators have then been put back in the interferometer. The actuator response are then expected to be similar to the O2 response, but not identical.

The mirrors are sketched in figure 1 and are called BS for the beam-splitter mirror, WI and NI for the West and North mirrors at the input of the arm cavities, WE and NE for the mirrors at the end of the arm cavities, and PR for the power-recycling mirror.

2.2. Sensing of the interferometer output power and control loops

The main output signal of the interferometer is the power at the dark port. It is sensed using two photodiodes. The photodiodes and their readout electronics have been changed with respect to advanced Virgo O2 configuration, in order to adapt them to a lower impinging power and to use high quantum efficiency photodiodes. But, as during the O2 run, the main channel \mathcal{P}_{DC} , that measures the output power components from 0 to 10 kHz, is obtained from the blend of two channels measured and digitized in two frequency bands. The interferometer controls use demodulated channels \mathcal{P}_{AC} , which are extracted using digital demodulation [2].

The principle of the longitudinal control loops is the same as described in [13] or [21] and the sketch in figure 1 shows the principle of the differential arm length control loop. Details and performances reached during O3 are described in [21]. Two feed-forward techniques setup during O3 have nevertheless impacted the calibration, as described later, since they used the main output of the interferometer as error signal. The first one (so-called 'Adaptive 50 Hz') is an adaptive reduction of the noise coming from the 50 Hz main power line. The second technique was setup during the commissioning break between O3a and O3b, in October 2019. It is an adaptive damping of suspension mechanical rotation resonances around 48 Hz.

3. Main Virgo calibration changes since the observing run O2

The parts to be calibrated for the O3 run have been the same as for the O2 run. Some hardware modifications and digital computation modifications of these parts were undertaken to improve the photodiode sensing and to reduce the thermal noise from the suspensions, but without significant impact on the calibration methods and outcome.

The most important update in the calibration is the change of *length reference* used to calibrate the mirror actuators and hence the strain amplitude. Until the end of the O2 run, Virgo calibration was using the laser wavelength as reference, through the so-called free swinging Michelson technique [14]. For O3, Virgo calibration has been done using the photon calibration technique, as in the LIGO interferometers [16]. The technique is based on the radiation pressure of an auxiliary laser whose power must be calibrated in absolute power. This change of reference induced modifications in the calibration measurements and the sequence to analyse them.

The PCal setup has been upgraded for O3. The PCal used during the O2 run showed large variability (about 10%) of its power calibration [14]. Various optical modifications have permitted to reach a calibration within about 1.5% [15] as summarized in more details later.

In addition, the Virgo PCal system has been cross-calibrated with the LIGO PCal system. A systematic bias of 3.92% in the absolute power measurements done with the Virgo powermeter has been found with respect to the LIGO power reference. It has been taken into account in the Virgo calibration procedure so that the Virgo and the LIGO length references are consistent. The final and most important outcome is to reconstruct strain h(t) channels with cross-calibrated amplitudes between all detectors.

The free swinging Michelson technique has still been used in the O3 calibration, but serving as an as an independent cross-check of the PCal results. The main limitations of this technique and the comparison with the PCal results are given in section 6.

Other important changes of Virgo calibration between the O2 and the O3 runs are related to the duration of the calibration periods: while Virgo participated only to the last month of O2, with the pre-run calibration data taken less than two weeks before, O3 run has been the first year-long run for Virgo. The detector was stable enough in advance so that most of the pre-run calibration data could be taken and analysed within the two months before the start of the run. This allowed to start the run with a reliable enough calibration.

In addition, the weekly calibration measurements spanned over a year for O3, and not only over a month as for O2. Hence we got more insights on calibration parameter stability.

A set of permanent sinewave injections which moved the mirrors at fixed frequencies and amplitudes over the whole O3 run were setup to continuously monitor the calibration and reconstruct the strain stability. Such motions were induced with both the PCal and the EM actuators. An online analysis of these injections was run to generate flags and alerts in the control room in case some calibration parameters go out of predefined bounds.

Another way to calibrate the advanced Virgo interferometer, so-called Newtonian calibration, was first tested at the end of the O2 run [22]. The Newtonian calibrator (NCal) has been improved before O3 and it could be commissioned a few times during O3. This technique has been used as an independent cross-check of the PCal technique. Similar development has been started in LIGO [23] and KAGRA [24]. This technique is not discussed in this paper, but its results, described in [25], are consistent within 3% with the PCal-based calibration, thus compatible with the current uncertainties.

To reconstruct the detector strain h(t), we need to calibrate the sensing part (photodiode readout) and the EM actuators of the controlled mirrors and marionettes. The following sections describe the methods and results of these calibrations.

4. Calibration of advanced Virgo timing and sensing

A first part to be calibrated is the photodiode sensing: how the output DC power of the dark fringe beam is converted by the detection photodiodes into the main output signal \mathcal{P}_{DC} . A model is associated that describes the TF of the sensing part and the time delay introduced by the sensing.

As for the calibration of the O2 run, the sensing model assumes a flat modulus response in the detection band, but with some digital anti-alias filters, dominated by a filter around 8 kHz. Modifications of the digital processing between the O2 and the O3 runs have been accounted for. The overall readout delay of the photodiode data acquisition has been measured by flashing a 1 PPS signal¹⁰¹ using an LED connected to a GPS receiver in front of the photodiodes, as during O2. The measured delay confirmed the expected value, with systematic uncertainties lower than 3 μ s [26].

5. Calibration of the electromagnetic actuators using the photon calibrators

The calibration of advanced Virgo mirror and marionette EM actuators consists in measuring their TF (modulus in m V^{-1}) that converts a known digital signal (in V) into a mirror displacement (in m) at an absolute GPS time.

¹⁰¹ Pulse per second signal is a synchronization signal delivered by the GPS receiver.

For the third observing run O3, the PCals [15] were used for the first time as reference for the Virgo detector calibration. To calibrate the actuators of the different mirrors and marionettes, this reference is *transferred* in series from a reference to another one in different steps. The different measurements associated to these transfers have been taken on a weekly basis during O3 in order to monitor the stability of the actuator calibration.

All the weekly measurements of a given type are combined together to assess the stability of the calibration data over a given calibration period. As shown later, the time variations were found to be small. As a consequence, the actuator models have been estimated using the average of all the calibration period and the time variations have been included in the uncertainty associated to the actuator models. The actuator model is an ad-hoc fit of the measured averaged TF.

Initial measurements were performed before the start of O3, in March 2019, in order to derive the actuator models used online at the start of the O3a period, in the h(t) reconstruction processing in particular. Then, weekly calibration measurements have been used to monitor the stability of the calibration and to improve the statistical uncertainties of the measurements. In October 2019, all the weekly measurements taken during O3a (April to September 2019) have been analysed to extract the updated actuator models that have been used online during O3b (November 2019 to March 2020). After O3, all the weekly measurements taken during O3 have been analysed together to extract updated actuator models and uncertainties. These models are used later in this paper to estimate uncertainties on the online strain h(t) channel. Note that these last models were not used online nor for offline reprocessing of the h(t) strain signal.

In this section, we first explain the principle of the calibration transfer and the different kinds of measurements needed to transfer the photon calibration reference to all the mirror and marionette actuators. Then, we give the results of the different calibration steps. As the control loop of the differential arm length directly actuates the position of the NE and WE mirrors and marionettes, we describe in details their actuator calibration. We also compare the final O3 actuator models with the initial and intermediate models, extracted with a limited set of calibration data, that have been used for online processing during the O3a and O3b periods respectively. The calibration of the other actuators is more rapidly described: the methods are similar and the main output given in this paper are the final uncertainties. Finally, section 5.5 summarizes the uncertainties of the detector calibration based on the photon calibration technique. In section 6, we highlight some improvements of the free swinging Michelson calibration technique as well as some of its limitations. Then we validate the PCal-based calibration by comparing the independent outputs of both techniques.

5.1. A series of calibration transfers

The actuator calibration is made as a series of calibration transfers between different systems, comparing a system of reference to another one that needs to be calibrated. It is based on the comparison of the detector's response R to two different excitation paths, from the signals Exc_{ref} and Exc_{new} respectively applied to a calibrated actuator of reference A_{ref} and to the actuator to be calibrated A_{new} . The output signal S_{out} of the detector is written in the frequency domain as:

$$S_{\rm out} = \operatorname{Exc} \times A \times R. \tag{2}$$

From two dataset with the different excitation paths, two TFs are measured:

$$\frac{S_{\text{out}}}{\text{Exc}_{\text{ref}}} = A_{\text{ref}} \times R \tag{3}$$

$$\frac{S_{\text{out}}}{\text{Exc}_{\text{new}}} = A_{\text{new}} \times R.$$
(4)

They are then combined to extract the actuator response to be calibrated:

$$A_{\text{new}} = \frac{S_{\text{out}}}{\text{Exc}_{\text{new}}} \times \left(\frac{S_{\text{out}}}{\text{Exc}_{\text{ref}}}\right)^{-1} \times A_{\text{ref}}.$$
(5)

The first step of the Virgo detector calibration consists in transferring the NE and WE PCal actuators calibration to the NE and WE mirror and marionette EM actuators, with the interferometer locked at its standard working point. Then, different transfers are done in series between the different actuators using specific configurations of the interferometer. The NI and WI mirror actuators are calibrated with respect to the NE and WE mirror actuators, with the interferometer locked at its working point but with the NI and WI actuators enabled. The PR and BS mirror actuators are then calibrated with respect to the WI mirror actuator, locking the cavity made of the PR-BS-WI mirrors. Finally, the BS marionette actuators are calibrated with respect to the interferometer locked at its working point.

The following sections describe these different steps and associated measurements.

5.2. Calibration of the NE and WE mirror actuators

5.2.1. Power calibration of the photon calibrators. The reference used for the PCal calibration is the power of the auxiliary laser reflected on the end mirrors P_i^{ref} which is calibrated by a power-meter called the Virgo integrating sphere, itself calibrated with respect to another power-meter called LIGO gold standard. The LIGO gold standard itself is calibrated by the National Institute of Standards and Technology so that the beam measurements are all given in absolute power [27].

As a preliminary step, the PCal actuators for WE and NE must be calibrated. Their calibration during O3 is described in the paper [15]. It gives the following TF (m W^{-1}):

$$A_{\text{PCal},i}(f) = \frac{2\cos(\theta)}{c} \times H(f) \times (S_{\text{PCal}}(f))^{-1}$$
(6)

with $i = \{\text{NE}, \text{WE}\}, \theta$ the angle of incidence of the PCal laser beam on the end mirror, *c* the light speed, H(f) the mechanical response of the end test mass to an excitation force and S_{PCal} the sensing function of the PCal photodiode. The PCal laser power is modulated to generate an excitation to the mirror, and the reflected power P_i^{ref} is recorded on a calibrated photodiode. The displacement of the end mirror induced by the PCal actuator is estimated multiplying the photodiode signal digitized at 20 kHz P_i^{ref} and the PCal actuator response $A_{\text{PCal},i}(f)$.

As stated in [15], the NE and WE PCals have first been calibrated in March 2019, before the start of O3.

The WE PCal calibration was found to be stable during O3a, with systematic uncertainties on the WE mirror induced motion estimated to 1.35%. The WE laser stopped working at the end of August 2019 and it was replaced during the run break in October 2019. The photodiode was recalibrated before the start of O3b. This re-calibration induced a small offset compared to the O3a power calibration, consistent with the systematic uncertainty coming from the power measurement with the Virgo integrating sphere already taken into account. However, the WE PCal power calibration was found to drift during O3b, in correlation with the environment humidity. This drift was seen after the end of O3b and hence was not corrected in the PCal calibration nor in the online h(t) reconstruction. As a consequence, it has been included as additional uncertainties on the WE PCal power calibration: systematic uncertainties on the WE mirror induced motion were estimated to 1.73% during O3b.

The NE PCal already had shown some calibration variations with humidity during O3a. Systematic uncertainties on the NE mirror induced motion were estimated to 1.35% during O3a. The NE laser also failed, in October 2019, and was replaced in January 2020 to be used again for O3b calibration. No offset in the NE PCal power calibration was found and the correlation with humidity was similar as during O3a. As a consequence, the systematic uncertainties on the NE mirror induced motion estimated to 1.39% during O3b.

During the two periods when a single PCal was available, the other being faulty, the Virgo calibration could still be monitored with the other PCal and with the free swinging Michelson calibration technique.

The timing of the PCal system is also calibrated so that the reconstructed displacement of the end mirror induced by the PCal is known as a function of the GPS time: the delays from the timing distribution in Virgo and from the photodiode readout electronics must be accounted for. The timing uncertainty on the PCal system has been estimated to 3 μ s during 03a [15].

On 17 December 2019, the PCal digital anti-imaging filter has been slightly modified, changing the delay of the PCal readout by 2.8 μ s. This modification has not been taken into account in the analysis of the calibration data but has been taken into account as an additional uncertainty on the PCal timing during O3b when estimating the timing error on the detector strain *h*(*t*) (see section 8.4).

Once the PCal actuator has been calibrated, it is used as reference to calibrate the EM actuators of the end mirrors (NE and WE).

5.2.2. Calibration transfer from PCals to end mirror actuators. To derive the models of the actuators of the end mirrors $A_{\min,i}^{Sc}$, $i = \{WE, NE\}$, the interferometer is set in its standard working point (so called *observing mode*). The EM actuators are thus in the low-noise mode and the correction signals sent to the actuator have nominal properties, inducing the actuator temperature to also be at its nominal level. The measurements of the end actuators response does not depend on different calibration transfers as it was the case with the free swinging Michelson technique.

We measure the PCal to end mirror TFs using known PCal multiplets of sine wave excitations $x_{PCal,i}(f_k)$ which are applied to the end mirrors while the error signal of the interferometer $\mathcal{P}_{DC,PCal,i}$ is measured. The effect of these excitations on the error signal are then compared to excitations at the same frequencies $x_{\min,i}(f_k)$ sent with the EM actuators of the end mirrors.

We can write the effect of the sine waves on the error signal in the frequency domain for the different datasets:

$$\mathcal{P}_{\text{DC,mir},i} = x_{\text{mir},i} \cdot R_{\text{mir},i}^{\text{ITF}} = zCAL_{\text{mir},i} \cdot \text{TF}_{\text{mir}}^{\text{CalToSc}} \cdot A_{\text{mir},i} \cdot R_{\text{mir},i}^{\text{ITF}}$$
(7)

$$\mathcal{P}_{\text{DC,PCal},i} = x_{\text{PCal},i} \cdot R_{\text{mir},i}^{\text{ITF}} = P_i^{\text{ref}} \cdot A_{\text{PCal},i} \cdot R_{\text{mir},i}^{\text{ITF}},$$
(8)

where $zCAL_{\text{mir},i}$ are the generated digital signals sent to the EM mirrors actuators as external perturbations, $\text{TF}_{\text{mir}}^{\text{CalToSc}}$ is the digital TF from the generated calibration signals $zCAL_{\text{mir},i}$ to the correction signals $zC_{\text{mir},i}$, $A_{\text{mir},i}$ are the EM actuator responses from $zC_{\text{mir},i}$ to the mirror motion ΔL at a GPS time; $A_{\text{PCal},i}$ are the actuator responses from the PCal laser power read



Figure 2. Evolution of the NE TF ratio used to transfer PCal to EM actuator calibration as a function of time at 183.2 Hz during O3 (see equation (9)). The NE PCal laser could not be used from October 2019 to mid-January 2020. The laser was replaced and the PCal photodiodes re-calibrated mid-January 2020.

on a photodiode (P_i^{ref}) to the mirror motion ΔL at a GPS time; and $R_{\min,i}^{\text{ITF}}$ is the closed-loop response of the interferometer to a motion of an end mirror.

Thus the responses of the actuators of the end mirrors (*i*) are computed as 102:

$$A_{\min,i}(f) = \left[\frac{\mathcal{P}_{\text{DC,mir},i}}{zCAL_{\min,i}}\right] \cdot \left[\frac{P_i^{\text{ref}}}{\mathcal{P}_{\text{DC,PCal},i}}\right] \cdot A_{\text{PCal},i}(f) \cdot \frac{1}{\text{TF}_{\min}^{\text{CalToSc}}}.$$
(9)

As shown in next paragraph, those actuators responses were measured every week during the run O3 to check their stability over the time and to get more precise measurements combining all the datasets.

5.2.3. Stability of the NE weekly measurements during O3. Figure 2 is an example of the time variation of the modulus and phase of the NE mirror actuation response at 183.2 Hz (one of the injected calibration lines) measured every week. The mean value of the measurement is shown as the red line on the figure, and its associated standard deviation and χ^2/ndf (chi squared divided by number of degrees of freedom) are given.

For each χ^2/ndf , one can attach a *p*-value which is an indicator for rejecting or not the null hypothesis. The *p*-value threshold above which we cannot reject the null hypothesis has been chosen to a conventional value of 0.05. This means that if the *p*-value related to the computed

 $^{^{102}}$ The brackets [·] point out the TFs directly measured from times series stored in the data.



Figure 3. Statistical and systematic errors estimation on the calibration transfer from NE PCal to NE mirror actuator. The errors on the amplitude are expressed in (%) and the errors on the phase are expressed in (mrad). (Left) Statistical errors on the amplitude (red filled squares) of the calibration transfer as a function of frequency and statistical plus systematic errors (red empty circles) estimation to have a *p*-value >0.05. (Right) Statistical plus estimation transfer as a function of frequency and statistical plus systematic errors (blue empty circles) estimation to have a *p*-value >0.05.

 χ^2/ndf is above 0.05, the data points are consistent with a constant fit in our case. The error bars on the plots are only statistical uncertainties coming from the measurements and they are sometimes too small to have a *p*-value >0.05 because one needs to take into account some systematic uncertainty that shows up as time variations. We have thus implemented an iterative algorithm that adds systematic uncertainties on the statistical errors and computes the new χ^2/ndf which thus gives a new *p*-value until the *p*-value is higher than 0.05.

Figure 3 shows, as a function of frequency, the statistical errors and the statistical plus the systematic errors (linear sum) on the amplitude and phase of the calibration transfer from the PCals to NE mirror actuator. Above 20 Hz, systematic errors smaller than 0.3% are added to the statistical errors in amplitude on the whole frequency band. Regarding the phase, systematic errors smaller than 3 mrad have also been added to the statistical errors so that the actuator response is compatible with a stable behavior. It is noticeable that the statistical error bars increase with the frequency, as expected since the induced mirror motion decreases while the detector sensitivity gets worst. As a consequence, possible small systematic errors are no longer visible at high frequency.

The conclusion of this analysis is that the NE mirror actuator responses was varying in time by less than 0.3% in amplitude and less than 3 mrad in phase. This is fully measured in the range 20 Hz to about 1 kHz. We do not expect larger time variations at higher frequencies where the weekly data are anyway compatible within their larger statistical uncertainties. These variations are small and their behavior between the weekly data cannot be interpolated. We have thus chosen to average the weekly data taken at a given frequency to get the mean modulus and phase of the actuator response for the full O3 run, and to include the estimated time variations as systematic uncertainties on the actuator response.

5.2.4. Average of the NE weekly data and actuator model fit. The final actuator model results from the average of all the weekly measurements done during O3, and includes the pre-O3 measurements from March 2019. Figure 4 shows the final NE end mirror actuator response and its fit, normalized by a pole at 0.6 Hz with a quality factor of 1000. This normalisation model approximately describes the mechanical attenuation of the suspended mirror, mainly going



Figure 4. NE mirror actuator response normalized by the simple pendulum mechanical model. On the left, the measurements are represented in blue and the fit is drawn in red. Modulus is given in W^{-1} and phase in rad. The modulus and the phase are fitted simultaneously. On the right, the residuals are shown. The green area represents the uncertainties given back by the fitted model, taking into account parameter covariance.

as f^{-2} above 10 Hz. This normalisation permits to see possible small deviations of this f^{-2} behavior coming from the electronics. This attenuation model does not perfectly correspond to reality, but any deviation from it would be compensated by the fit.

The model parameters and fit uncertainties are summarized in the last column of table 1. The fit residuals are within 0.2% in modulus. In phase, some unexpected behavior is seen and not included in the fit below 40 Hz, with the phase deviating from 0. As a consequence, these residuals are lower than 2 mrad above 30 Hz, but reach 6 mrad at 20 Hz. The residual deviations from the fit are taken into account as systematic uncertainties on the actuator model, as summarized in section 5.5.

As a rough cross-check, the actuator model has been compared to the nominal actuator response, estimated from the actuator electronics schematics and coil-magnet geometry: the gain is consistent within 15%. This is not unexpected given the uncertainties on the electronics components of the actuator (resistance values, inductance values), the coil-magnet coupling factors and the balancing of the four coils.

The results shown in this section about the NE mirror actuator have been computed using all the O3 calibration data. In the next section, they are compared with two intermediate calibration models estimated with different subset of the data.

Table 1. NE mirror actuators models during O3. The models 'O3a online' were derived in March 2019 and used online during O3a; the models 'O3b online' were derived in October 2019 using all the O3a data and were used online during O3b; the models 'preO3+O3a+O3b' (full model) were derived after the end of O3. Their validity range is from 10 Hz to 1500 Hz.

Model	O3a online	O3b online	preO3+O3a+O3b
Fit			
Gain (μ m V ⁻¹)	0.4833	0.4809	0.4806 ± 0.0001
Pole f_p (Hz)	123.5	112	112.5 ± 1.2
Zero f_z (Hz)	129.8	117	117.6 ± 1.2
Zero f_{z} (Hz)	_	5636	5736 ± 162
Delay (µs)	-172.2	-143.0	-144.6 ± 0.7
Pendulum			
f_0 (Hz)	0.6	0.6	0.6
Q_0	1000	1000	1000

5.2.5. Comparison of NE mirror final O3 model with the online models. Initial and intermediate actuator models were extracted in March 2019 and in October 2019 with the dataset available at that time. They have then been used online during O3a and O3b respectively, in particular in the h(t) online reconstruction processing. The model parameters are summarized in table 1. Figure 5 shows a comparison of the NE mirror actuator models used online during O3a and during O3b with the model extracted using all the O3 calibration dataset as shown in previous paragraphs. More dataset and better measurements around 1 kHz showed the need to add a high-frequency zero, which was not included in the O3a online model. The O3b model is in agreement with the full model within better than 0.3% and 1 μ s (8 mrad at 1 kHz). Due to the absence of a high-frequency zero in the O3a online model, differences are larger. In particular, for the modulus, the difference is up to 2% at 1 kHz, but the agreement with the full model is still within 0.5% up to 600 Hz.

5.2.6. Stability of the WE weekly measurements during O3. The stability of the NE mirror measurements was shown in the previous sections. We show here that the WE mirror measurements were less stable, but that the main origin of the variations has been understood.

Figure 6 is an example of the time variation of the modulus and phase at 183.2 Hz of WE mirror actuator. Some large variations are seen, in particular between O3a and O3b. As summarized in section 5.2.1, the laser of the PCal used as reference to calibrate the WE mirror failed at the end of August 2019 and was replaced and re-calibrated in October 2019. In addition, the PCal photodiode signal started to show up some power calibration variation with environment humidity. This explains the large variation seen in the WE mirror calibration, and in particular the differences between O3a and O3b periods.

We processed the same analysis as for NE on the whole dataset and figure 7 shows the statistical errors and the statistical plus systematic errors on the modulus and phase of the calibration transfers from the WE PCal to the WE mirror actuator. The statistical and systematic uncertainties on the phase are very similar to the one estimated for NE data. The systematic uncertainties on the modulus are much larger, as expected due to the WE PCal power calibration variations: above 20 Hz, systematic errors are at the level of 0.6% on the whole frequency band.

The conclusion of this analysis is that the WE mirror actuator response was stable in time with systematic uncertainties smaller than 0.6% in amplitude and smaller than 4 mrad in phase in the 20 Hz to 1 kHz range, but that part of these uncertainties comes from the PCal calibration variations, and is not real variations of the WE mirror actuator response. We do not expect larger



Figure 5. Comparison (ratio) of NE mirror actuator response models used online during O3 to the model extracted using the full O3 dataset (green filled area: O3a online model, blue dotted area: O3b online model).

time variations at higher frequencies where the weekly data are anyway compatible within their larger statistical uncertainties.

Note that independent measurements of the WE mirror actuator based on the free swinging Michelson technique (described later) do not show up any variation in the WE mirror actuator larger than 0.3%, which confirms that the large variations comes mainly from the PCal. However, we have chosen to use conservative uncertainties of 0.6% in modulus for the WE mirror actuator calibration (see section 5.5).

5.2.7 Comparison of WE mirror final O3 model with the online models. Despite these larger than expected variations, we have averaged all the dataset and extracted a full model for WE mirror actuator. The model parameters and fit uncertainties are given in the last column of table 2. The fit residuals are within 0.2% and 2 mrad between 10 Hz and 1 kHz, and contrary to the NE case, no unexpected behavior is seen on the phase at low frequency.

As for NE, the WE actuator models were extracted in March 2019 and in October 2019 with the dataset available at that time and they have been used online during O3a and O3b respectively. The model parameters are summarized in table 2. The need to add a high-frequency zero showed up also, which was not included in the O3a online model. The O3b model shows a general offset of 0.5% compared to the full model, but is in agreement within better than 0.7% and 1 μ s in the whole band. Due to the absence of a high-frequency zero in the O3a online model, differences in modulus are within 1% up to 600 Hz, and reach 2.5% at 1 kHz.



Figure 6. Evolution of the WE TF ratio used to transfer PCal to EM actuator calibration as function of time at 183.2 Hz during O3 (see equation (9)). The WE PCal laser could not be used in September 2019. The laser was replaced and the PCal photodiodes recalibrated end of October 2019.

Table 2. WE mirror actuators models during O3. The models 'O3a online' were derived in March 2019 and used online during O3a; the models 'O3b online' were derived in October 2019 using all the O3a data and were used online during O3b; the models 'preO3+O3a+O3b' (full model) were derived after the end of O3. Their validity range is from 10 Hz to 1500 Hz.

Model	O3a online	O3b online	preO3+O3a+O3b
Fit			
Gain (μ m V ⁻¹)	0.4007	0.399	0.4012 ± 0.0001
Pole f_p (Hz)	113.04	109	109.9 ± 4.4
Zero f_z (Hz)	115.22	111	111.7 ± 4.5
Zero f_z (Hz)		5364	5376 ± 135
Delay (μ s)	-171.2	-142.0	-142.8 ± 0.7
Pendulum			
f_0 (Hz)	0.6	0.6	0.6
Q_0	1000	1000	1000

5.2.8. Permanent monitoring of mirror actuators during O3. Over all the O3 run, permanent lines have been injected on NE and WE mirrors through their EM actuators. An online process (TFMoni) has been setup to compute TFs and extract their modulus and phase at the frequency of the permanent lines to monitor their stability [28, 29]. Each TF was computed every



Figure 7. Statistical and systematic errors estimation on the calibration transfer from WE PCal to WE mirror actuator. The errors on the amplitude are expressed in (%) and the errors on the phase are expressed in (mrad). (Left) Statistical errors on the amplitude (red filled squares) of the calibration transfer as a function of frequency and statistical plus systematic errors (red empty circles) estimation in order to have a *p*-value >0.05. (Right) Statistical errors on the phase (blue filled triangles) of the calibration transfer as a function of frequency and statistical plus systematic errors (blue empty circles) estimation to have a *p*-value >0.05.

5 seconds as a moving average of 12 FFTs (fast Fourier transforms), each computed over 10 seconds of data. Two different TFs were computed to monitor the stability of the mirror actuators:

- from the excitation channel generated on a real-time computer ($zCAL_i$ in figure 1) to the excitation channel received and sent back to data acquisition by the digital part of the mirror actuator (zC_i). The aim is to monitor the data transmission and processing in the digital part.
- From the excitation channel to the four channels sensing the current flowing in the four coils of the actuator. The aim is to monitor also the analog part of the actuators. Variations of less than 0.5% on modulus and less than 4 mrad on phase were found around 60 Hz, dominated by statistical fluctuations (and significant time variations but at the level of 0.04% and 0.1 mrad around 355 Hz).

The computed values were available online and used by a low-latency process [30] (called detector monitoring system) to display flags in the control room and trigger alerts in case of unexpected values. The stability of the values were monitored at the 0.5% level in modulus and 4 mrad in phase, dominated by statistical fluctuations.

5.3. Calibration of the NE and WE marionette actuators

The end marionette actuators $A_{\text{mar},i}^{\text{Sc}}$, $i = \{\text{WE}, \text{NE}\}$, are also calibrated with the interferometer in its standard operating mode. The technique is similar as for the calibration of the end mirror actuators except that we compare the end mirror motion induced by PCal with the end mirror motion driven by the EM actuators of the marionette.

As for the end mirrors actuators and shown figure 8, the stability of these measurements has been checked during O3. Systematic uncertainties are estimated of the order of 0.2% and 2 mrad in the 10-100 Hz band.

The final actuator model results from the average of all the weekly measurements done during O3, and includes the pre-O3 measurements from March 2019. Figure 9 shows the final NE marionette actuator response and its fit, normalized by a mechanical response model. The



Figure 8. Statistical and systematic errors estimation on the calibration transfer from NE PCal to NE marionette actuator. The errors on the amplitude are expressed in (%) and the errors on the phase are expressed in (mrad). (Left) Statistical errors on the amplitude (red filled squares) of the calibration transfer as a function of frequency and statistical plus systematic errors (red empty circles) estimation to have a *p*-value >0.05. (Right) Statistical errors on the phase (blue filled triangles) of the calibration transfer as a function to have a *p*-value >0.05.

mechanical model used for the marionette is made of two poles at 0.6 Hz with a quality factor of 1000, to hide the f^{-4} mechanical attenuation in the plots. Above 20 Hz, the fit residuals are within 2% in modulus and 3 mrad in phase.

5.4. Calibration of WI, NI, BS and PR actuators

Once the actuators response of NE and WE mirrors have been calibrated with the PCals it is possible to calibrate the actuators response of WI, NI, BS, PR mirrors and WI, NI and BS marionettes by transferring the calibration using different interferometer configurations.

5.4.1. Calibration of NI and WI mirror actuators. The calibration transfer from end to input mirror actuator is done with the interferometer in its standard working point, but with the NI and WI mirror actuators switched on (i.e. the DAC output connected the coil drivers). The input mirror actuators are not used in observing mode because they are noisy: they largely spoil the sensitivity below \sim 200 Hz. In this configuration, sinewave excitations are sent to the end mirrors (Exc_{ref}) and then to the input mirrors (Exc_{new}), and the interferometer main photodiode output \mathcal{P}_{DC} is used as output channel (S_{out} in equation (5)). Compared to the description given in section 5.1, the optical response R is not exactly the same in both dataset and does not cancel when doing the TF ratio (see equations (3)–(5)): hence some corrections must be applied to properly take the difference into account. A motion of an end mirror couples only to the differential arm length degree of freedom of the interferometer, while a motion of an input mirror also couples to the short Michelson degree of freedom (see section 2). Since the finesse of the arm Fabry-Perot cavities is high, of the order of 450, the coupling to differential arm length dominates and the difference is small: the interferometer response to a motion of an end mirror has an amplitude greater by 0.37% than the response to a motion of an input mirror. On the phase, the response to an end mirror motion has a higher delay than the response to the motion of an input mirror, by 10 μ s, due to the light propagation time in the arm cavity.

Measurements in this special configuration were done every week during O3. The ratio of the TFs was computed on every dataset and averaged over the whole run. The statistical and



Figure 9. NE marionette actuator response normalized by the double pendulum mechanical model. On the left, the measurements are represented in blue and the fit is drawn in red. Modulus is given in m V^{-1} and phase in rad. The modulus and the phase are fitted simultaneously. On the right, the residuals are shown. The green area represents the uncertainties given back by the fitted model, taking into account parameter covariance.

systematic uncertainties on this ratio used for the transfer from NE to NI (WE to WI) mirror actuator calibration are below 0.3% and 1 mrad in modulus and phase above 20 Hz.

The measured response of the input mirror actuator is then computed multiplying the data points of the averaged end mirror actuator by the data points of the averaged TF ratio. It is then fitted and the fitted gain and delay are finally corrected for the 0.37% and 10 μ s described earlier. The response is modeled by a simple pole around 320 Hz, consistent with the response expected for this actuator in strong dynamic/high noise configuration.

5.4.2. Calibration of BS and PR mirror actuators. The calibrated WI mirror actuator is then used as reference to calibrate the BS and PR mirror actuators. For this measurement, the detector is partially misaligned and only the Fabry–Perot cavity made of PR-BS-WI mirrors is aligned and locked. In this configuration, sine wave excitations are sent to the WI mirror (Exc_{ref}) and then to the PR and BS mirrors (Exc_{new}) , while the output channel S_{out} is extracted from the auxiliary photodiode used to control the cavity lock, sensitive to the power inside this cavity.

The systematic uncertainties are estimated from the weekly measurements, in the range 20 Hz and 500 Hz: they are lower than 0.6% in modulus and 6 mrad in phase.

The measured responses of the BS and PR mirror actuators are then computed multiplying the data points of the WI mirror actuator by the data points of the averaged TF ratio. These new

Table 3. Summary of the statistical and systematic uncertainties on the mirror actuator models. The uncertainty on the modulus and phase is given for each contribution to the total uncertainty. The sum of all the contributions to each mirror actuator model, and its validity range, is provided. The validity range does not span the full range of strain frequencies but are enough given the unity gain frequency of the different loops acting on the mirror positions. See text for details.

		NE mirror	WE mirror	BS mirror	PR mirror
Stat. uncertainty and fit residuals		0.2% (6 mrad)	0.2% (2 mrad)	1% (10 mrad)	2% (50 mrad)
	PCal calibration	1.39% (0 mrad)		1.73% (0 mrad)	
	PCal to end transfer	0.3% (3 mrad)		0.6% (4 mrad)	
Syst. uncert.	WE to WI transfer		— 0.2% (1 mrac		1 mrad)
	WI to BS transfer	_		0.6% (6 mrad)	_
	WI to PR transfer	_	_		0.6% (6 mrad)
	PCal readout delay		3 μ	us	
Total uncerta	ainty (quadratic sum)	1.44%	1.84%	2.18%	2.78%
		6.7 mrad	4.5 mrad	13 mrad	12.4 mrad
		3 µs	$3 \ \mu s$	3 µs	$3 \ \mu s$
Validity range		20–1500 Hz	20–1500 Hz	20–500 Hz	20–500 Hz

data are fit and the fitted gain and delay are finally corrected for the 0.37% and 10 μ s described earlier.

5.4.3. Calibration of marionette actuators (BS, NI, WI). The BS marionette was controlled continuously during O3. The NI and WI marionette were controlled only in the so-called 'earth quake mode' of the interferometer, when the longitudinal control of the arms differential length was done using the NI and WI marionette actuators in order to be less sensitive to large seismic motions induced by earthquakes or bad weather.

As a consequence, the controls were subtracted in the h(t) strain reconstruction processing. The actuators of the BS, NI and WI marionette were hence calibrated, via different transfers: from BS mirror to BS marionette, and from NE, WE PCal to NI and WI marionette.

5.5. Detector calibration uncertainties estimation

Each step of the calibration procedure described in the previous sections contributes to the total uncertainty of the actuator response both in amplitude and in phase. Tables 3 and 4 provide the total uncertainty for the mirror and marionette actuators respectively. In the case of the mirror actuators, the breakdown of the various contributions to the total uncertainty described in previous sections is included.

6. Comparison with calibration using free swinging Michelson technique

Free swinging Michelson technique is an independent method to calibrate the mirror EM actuators, using the laser wavelength (1064 nm) as length standard. It has been the reference method for calibrating Virgo until the end of the O2 run. During O3, it has been used as an independent cross-check of the reference calibration based on the PCal technique described in the previous section.

Table 4. Summary of the uncertainties on the marionette actuator models, along with their validity range. The validity range does not span the full range of strain frequencies but are enough given the unity gain frequency of the different loops acting on the mirror positions. See text for details.

	NE mario.	WE mario.	BS mario.	NI mario.	WI mario.
Total uncertainty (quadratic sum)	2.0%	1.9%	2.7%	3.3%	3.5%
	11 mrad	8 mrad	15 mrad	30 mrad	30 mrad
	$3 \ \mu s$				
Validity range	10–100 Hz	10–100 Hz	10-60 Hz	10-80 Hz	10-80 Hz

Free swinging Michelson calibration during O3 is similar to the O2 calibration described in [14, 17]. The interferometer mirrors are either aligned or misaligned to setup a free swinging short Michelson. The differential arm length $\Delta L(t)$ is measured using a non-linear reconstruction (described in [17]) from the interference fringes passing on the output photodiode. The NI, WI and BS mirror actuator response, in meter per volt, is estimated by applying known excitations to the mirror EM actuators and observing their effect on the reconstructed ΔL . Then, calibration transfers from the input NI and WI mirror actuator to the end NE and WE mirror actuators are done (similarly as described in section 5.4.1): with the full interferometer locked, one can compare the effect of known motions of the NI and WI mirrors. This comparison allows to estimate the NE and WE mirror actuator responses, based on the free swinging Michelson technique.

After an overview of the advanced Virgo photodiode readout and the limitations of this technique, we compare its results with the PCal-based calibration results.

6.1. Note on the advanced Virgo photodiode readout

The output beam used to observe the interference fringes is a small fraction of the interferometer output beam extracted before the output mode-cleaner cavity [31]. It is sent onto a photodiode, and the non-linear ΔL reconstruction uses two channels from this photodiode: \mathcal{P}_{DC} , that measures the output power components from 0 to 10 kHz, and \mathcal{P}_{AC} , that is extracted using digital demodulation at 56 MHz. The \mathcal{P}_{DC} signal is in practice the blending of two output channels: $\mathcal{P}_{DC,raw}$ channel from DC to 10 kHz with high dynamic and \mathcal{P}_{Audio} channel, high-passed at f_0 (~5 Hz), with less noise but lower dynamic, in the band 5 Hz to 10 kHz. We discovered a coupling between both channels: the response of the $\mathcal{P}_{DC,raw}$ channel is modified because of the presence of the high-pass analog filter in the audio channel.

Two different photodiodes receive respectively 90% (PD1) and 10% (PD2) of the extracted beam power. Since there is less power on it, the PD2 photodiode provides less sensitive calibration than PD1. The Virgo laser power was increased by about a factor two between O2 and O3 runs. To prevent saturation of the \mathcal{P}_{Audio} channel, the PD1 photodiode readout electronics was modified: the frequency of the audio-filter was increased from 5 Hz to 16 Hz.

In order to measure the responses of the $\mathcal{P}_{DC,raw}$ channels, an LED was put manually in front of the photodiode, and driven with a noise to modulate its power [26]. This measurement could be done only during the rare periods when the vacuum tank hosting the optical bench was opened. Hence, it was not monitored during the run. The response was fit with a pole and a zero around the high-pass filter frequency f_0 . However, doing the measurement with the photodiode temperature going from 54 °C (few minutes after opening the vacuum tank, during thermal transient) down to 38 °C (steady temperature when the optical bench is in air)

showed that the pole and zero frequencies vary with temperature. The correlation could not be measured precisely, but whitening filters have been derived¹⁰³ and then applied in realtime on the $\mathcal{P}_{DC,raw}$ channel, to provide a channel $\mathcal{P}_{DC,whitened}$ with flat response from DC to 10 kHz. Then, the final channel \mathcal{P}_{DC} during O3 has been computed by blending $\mathcal{P}_{DC,whitened}$ and \mathcal{P}_{Audio} , so that in principle the absolute calibration is correct and no frequency-dependent error is introduced by the photodiode readout.

6.2. Limitations of free swinging Michelson during O3

One of the main limitation of the free swinging Michelson technique comes from the issue of non-flat DC response described above: (i) the whitening filter does not perfectly compensate for the readout non-flatness, and (ii) the compensation must slightly vary in time for PD1 since its temperature increases by about $0.3 \,^\circ$ C during the free swinging Michelson measurements, after a shutter has been opened and the laser beam reaches the photodiode. Using the most sensitive photodiode, PD1, the measurement of the mirror actuation is indeed distorted by 1% in the range 10 Hz to 100 Hz because the whitening filter does not match perfectly the real response. But using the less sensitive photodiode, PD2, the measurements have statistical uncertainties of the order of 1%. In addition, comparing both results, the mirror actuation response when using PD1 is 1% to 2% higher than when using PD2, showing the level of systematic errors.

Another limitation of this technique is the limited ΔL sensitivity of the Michelson configuration, of the order of 10^{-13} m Hz^{-1/2}. Large NI and WI mirror motions must be applied to calibrate their actuators, few order of magnitudes larger than the mirror motions that are controlled in the standard condition of the interferometer. In particular, the input mirror motions applied for the calibration transfer to the end mirrors are five orders of magnitude lower. Hence, linearity of the actuation response is a strong assumption of this technique.

Finally, this technique, based on the Virgo laser wavelength, cannot be intercalibrated with other detectors. The possibility to cross-calibrate the LIGO and Virgo PCals is one very important advantage of the PCal technique.

6.3. Comparison with the reference calibration

Figure 10 shows the ratio of the NE mirror actuator response fit on measurements based on free swinging Michelson technique to the response fit on measurements with the PCal technique. The ratio of the data points measured using both techniques are shown, along with the ratio of the two fitted models. The statistical errors are dominated by the free swinging Michelson measurements at all frequencies. A systematic difference of about 1.5% is seen in modulus (the mirror actuation response, in m V⁻¹, being larger using the free swinging Michelson technique), indicating the level of agreement of the absolute calibration using both techniques. This difference is flat within better than 0.7% between 10 Hz and 400 Hz, where the actuation response modulus varies by 4% (see figure 4): it confirms the presence of the pole and zero around 120 Hz in the actuator response. At high frequency, above about 500 Hz, there is a slight trend of increasing difference between the two kinds of measurements, but it is not significant within the large statistical uncertainties of free swinging Michelson data. The phase measurements agree between both techniques. At high frequency, the two models diverge following a difference of about 4 μ s in delay, but again the data themselves show that this difference is not significant.

¹⁰³ Fixed pole and zero frequencies, extrapolated at temperatures close to the photodiode temperature measured during free swinging Michelson measurements.



Figure 10. Ratio of the NE mirror actuator response measured with the free swinging Michelson technique to the response measured with the PCal technique. The blue points give the ratio of the actuator response data points measured with both techniques, with their associated statistical uncertainties. The red curve shows the ratio of the models extracted from the two independent techniques.

These small differences are compatible with the uncertainties estimated from both methods on the NE mirror actuation: 1.44% using the PCal as reference and between 1% and 2% using the free swinging Michelson technique. We conclude that the cross-check with the free swinging Michelson technique validates the PCal-based calibration within better than 2%.

7. Reconstruction of the detector strain h(t) and noise subtraction

The Virgo detector strain time series h(t) is reconstructed using the raw detector time series and the models describing the sensing chain and the controlled mirror actuators whose calibration has been described in the previous sections. In this section, we report the principle of this h(t)reconstruction and the noise subtraction used during O3 which was applied within the same process. After a general introduction on the overall processing, more details are given on the (*t*) reconstruction itself in section 7.3, and then further details on the noise subtraction and noise-witness channels considered during O3 are provided in section 7.4. In section 8, we then describe the method used to estimate the uncertainties on h(t) and we give them for both O3a and O3b periods.

7.1. Principle

In the first steps of the h(t) reconstruction, the contributions of the control signals are removed from the dark fringe signal, taking into account the interferometer optical TF, as sketched in figure 11. Following the notations of figure 1, inputs are the measured dark fringe photodiode channel, \mathcal{P}_{DC} , the control signals, zC_i , sent to the mirror and marionette actuators, and the calibrated TFs for the photodiode readout and the different actuators.



Figure 11. Principle of the Virgo h(t) strain data reconstruction and noise subtraction during O3 run, with different steps: the reconstruction itself, producing the h_{raw} intermediate channel, the noise subtraction, producing the h_{clean} intermediate channel and the subtraction of the hardware injections, producing the final h(t) channel. Input data channels are shown in blue, output data channels in green. P_{DC} is the main output power of the interferometer. zC_i is the control signal applied to the mirror or marionette EM actuator. G_i is the gain of the optical response of the interferometer to a motion of mirror *i*. $L_0 = 3$ km is length of the arm cavities. w_i are the noise witness channels used for noise subtraction. The NE and WE mirror motions applied via the hardware injections are estimated and subtracted using the channels used as reference for the actuator calibration: zHI_i for the mirror EM actuators and P_i^{ref} for the PCal actuators.

The controls subtracted from the dark fringe signal to obtain $h_{raw}(t)$ have contribution mainly at low frequency and have almost no effect on the amplitude of $h_{raw}(t)$ above 300 Hz as can be seen in figure 12.

The computation is done in the frequency domain using FFTs over 8 s with 4 s overlap. Calibration lines, added to the control signals zC_i , are used to monitor the time varying parameters of the optical response, i.e. the mean optical gain and mean cavity finesse. These parameters slowly vary, with the interferometer alignment for instance. The monitored values are modified continuously in the $h_{raw}(t)$ reconstruction processing.



Figure 12. Contributions of the mirrors longitudinal controls to the reconstructed signal h_{raw} in O. Black curve is the amplitude spectral density of the dark fringe signal \mathcal{P}_{DC} . Pink curve is the amplitude spectral density of h_{raw} purple in watt units. The other curves are the contribution of the various controls zC_i in the same units.

Table 5. Permanent calibration lines injected during O3 to monitor the optical gain and finesse of the arm cavities.

Injection source	Line frequency	Line SNR
NE mirror actuator	62.5 Hz	120
WE mirror actuator	61.5 Hz	100
BS mirror actuator	61.0 Hz	120
PR mirror actuator	63.0 Hz	3

Once the raw time series $h_{raw}(t)$ is reconstructed, noise subtraction is applied to get the cleaned signal $h_{clean}(t)$. During the commissioning of the Virgo interferometer, various noise contributions were still present in the dark fringe signal and could be subtracted during O3 thanks to their presence also in auxiliary monitoring channels, which could be used as noise witnesses. Finally, the hardware injections (both continuous lines and pulsar-like signals) are also subtracted, using the excitation channels and the actuator calibrated models, to get the final strain time series h(t).

The h(t) reconstruction and noise subtraction processes being done in the frequency domain, the final h(t) channels are obtained at 20 000 Hz and 16 384 Hz by performing inverse FFTs. The h(t) time series computed online and provided publicly in GWOSC [32] is called V1:Hrec_hoft_16384Hz.

7.2. Main changes with respect to O2

The h(t) reconstruction algorithm, which includes noise subtraction, was not changed between the code version used to reprocess O2 data and the code version used online during the O3 run. The main update in the reconstruction itself concerns the reduction of the latency of the data processing. Using FFTs of 8 s, instead of 20 s as during O2, reduced the latency introduced by



Figure 13. Calibration lines in the spectrum of \mathcal{P}_{DC} , before h(t) reconstruction (blue), h_{raw} (orange) and the reconstructed h(t) (green), delivered for data analysis. P_{DC} has been normalized so that it is at the same mean level as h_{raw} between 56 Hz and 58 Hz. The four calibration lines used for the h(t) reconstruction are visible in \mathcal{P}_{DC} and well reduced in h_{raw} (and h(t)) as expected. The two lines at 60.5 Hz and 63.5 Hz are hardware injections from the PCal: they are also well reduced in the final h(t) channel.

the reconstruction from 20 s to 8 s, which is an important improvement to provide low-latency public alerts in case of gravitational wave detections.

The noise subtraction algorithm was initially developed during O2 to subtract a single witness-channel that monitored the frequency noise. During O3, five different witness channels were identified and used to subtract different sources of noise. These are described later, as well as the limitations of the method when different witness channels are correlated.

Twelve continuous hardware injections of sinusoidal signals were performed during O3 in the detector most sensitive frequency band. The goal of these injections is to monitor the time variation of a systematic bias in the amplitude and phase of the reconstructed h(t) signal. Such a frequency-dependent bias was seen during O2 (and in earlier Virgo science runs), but was monitored only weekly. Such injections have allowed to assess the stability of this bias during O3 (as shown in section 8).

7.3. h(t) reconstruction

73.1. Monitoring of time varying parameters: optical gains and cavity finesse. In order to monitor the time varying parameters of the detector optical response, permanent lines in the form of sinusoidal signals were injected on WE, NE, PR and BS mirror EM actuators via the channels $zCAL_i$ (see figure 1) around 60 Hz as summarized in table 5. The lines were injected with a signal-to-noise ratio (SNR) of the order of 100 above the detector background noise as summarized in the table 5, and naturally subtracted in the h(t) reconstruction algorithm since they were included in the control signals zC_i . Note the coupling of the motion of the PR mirror to the detector output is low and varies with the detector working conditions. As a consequence, the SNR for the PR mirror induced motion is of the order of a few, with significant variations. From these lines, the optical gains G_i and the cavity finesse (used in the model of the cavity pole shown in figure 11) were updated at the pace of the h(t) reconstruction, that is once every 4 s. Figure 13 shows the calibration lines in the spectrum of the dark fringe signal, and in the spectrum of the reconstructed h(t) before and after their mitigation.

7.3.2. Notes on violin modes not modeled in actuator responses. The various spectral lines around 450 Hz, due to the mirror suspensions violin modes have been well identified and associated to each mirror. In observing mode, which corresponds to the periods where the detector is stable enough and data are exploitable for astrophysical purposes, the mirror control signals were notched at these frequencies to prevent exciting the violin modes. These violin modes were not included in the mirror actuation models used during O3. As a consequence, the reconstructed h(t) strain channel must be biased at these frequencies. However, the detector sensitivity is spoiled at these frequencies (the violin modes, between 450 Hz and 460 Hz, are more than three orders of magnitude above the advanced Virgo sensitivity) and the data are thus not useful for any astrophysical analysis.

7.3.3. Notes on optical response at low frequency. The optical response of the Virgo powerrecycled interferometer with Fabry–Perot cavities in the arms is expected to follow a single pole TF, whose pole frequency depends on the finesse of the arm cavities. This model has been used in the h(t) reconstruction processing, with a nominal pole at 55 Hz, and the pole frequency variations were monitored using calibration lines as described earlier.

However, it was discovered during O3 that the real optical response of the Virgo interferometer showed a different behavior at low frequency: below about 20 Hz, the measured response showed an unexpected high-pass behavior. It could be fit by a model used to describe an optical spring effect, expected to appear in a dual-recycled interferometer configuration and seen in the LIGO detector response [33]. A possible explanation for the presence of this optical spring in Virgo during O3 is the non-null reflection of the anti-reflective coating of the lens installed at the position of the future signal-recycling mirror of advanced Virgo. In addition, the shape of this optical response at low frequency varies in time. No clear correlation with the input laser power (increased between O3a and O3b), nor the differential arm length offset (that was sometimes changed during O3) could be found. Note that there were no data taken in precise conditions, controlling the mentioned parameters, hence a detailed study could not be done to understand this effect.

As a consequence, the optical response model used in the h(t) reconstruction was not precise at low frequency, and time variations were not monitored. The expected effect is a time varying bias on the reconstructed strain channel h(t). It is included in the estimation of the bias and uncertainties described in section 8.

7.4. Noise subtraction

7.4.1. Principle. Remaining noises can couple to the differential arm length variation and add undesired contribution to the detector strain. These can degrade the sensitivity of the detector or even mimic gravitational wave signals. Noise-witness channels are used to unveil remaining noises in the reconstructed detector strain $h_{raw}(t)$. Various noise subtraction methods have been investigated and implemented in the case of LIGO [34–36], whose results motivated its implementation as a step following the $h_{raw}(t)$ online reconstruction in Virgo. Note that, in Virgo, the noise subtraction computation is done in the same process as the h(t) reconstruction.

For each witness channel, a TF with h_{raw} (TFs) is used in a specific frequency band to quantify the noise contribution that should be subtracted. These TFs are computed every 500 s and are used to do the noise subtraction over the next 500 s. The noise subtraction is performed in the frequency domain, where each subtracted term is the TF multiplied by the FFT of the noise-witness channel.

Table 6. Noises subtracted linearly during O3 within the h(t) reconstruction process. Details are provided on the noise-witness channel considered to subtract each noise, the time period and the frequency band. Note that two channels, V1:SIB2_B2_8MHz_I and V1:SIB2_RFC_PD2_Audio, were setup to monitor and check the subtraction of the frequency noise during November 2019. The change of the noise witness channels used to subtract the scattered light in NE and WE is due to a change of the data type (float to double), done with the goal of reducing the numerical noise. The blue italic line indicate the modification applied for the reprocessing of the end of O3a data.

Noise type	Channel name	From	Until	Freq. band (Hz)
Michelson noise	V1:SPRB_B4_56MHz_Q	2019-04-05	2019-08-01	8-90
		2019-08-01	2019-11-01	8-150
	V1:SSFS_Err_Q_unnorm_10kHz	2019-11-01	2020-02-04	8-85
	V1:LSC_MICH	2020-02-04	2020-02-11	8-85
		2020-02-11	2020-04-02	8-60
Frequency noise	V1:SIB2_B2_8MHz_I	2019-04-05	2019-08-01	90-3500
		2019-08-01	2019-11-01	150-3500
		2019-09-16	2019-09-30	50-3500
		2019-11-01	2019-11-24	85-3500
	V1:SIB2_RFC_PD2_Audio	2019-11-01	2019-11-24	100-3000
	V1:SIB2_B2_8MHz_I	2019-11-24	2019-11-26	8-3500
		2019-11-26	2020-02-11	85-3500
		2020-02-11	2020-04-02	60-3500
56 MHz RIN noise	V1:SDB2_B1s1_PD1_Blended	2019-04-05	2019-08-01	40-1000
		2019-08-01	2019-08-01	40-2000
		2019-08-01	2019-11-24	40-1000
		2019-11-24	2020-03-10	40-2000
		2020-03-10	2020-04-02	20-2000
Scattered light	V1:SNEB_B7_DC	2019-04-05	2020-02-07	10-70
Noise at NE	V1:SNEB_B7_DC_D	2020-02-07	2020-04-02	10-70
Scattered light	V1:SWEB_B8_DC	2019-04-05	2020-02-07	10-70
Noise at WE	V1:SWEB_B8_DC_D	2020-02-07	2020-04-02	10-70

In the noise subtraction implementation used during O3, for a given noise-witness channel, the TF is computed between $h_{1\text{Noise}}$ and the noise witness channel. $h_{1\text{Noise}}$ is the *cleaned* h(t)from which all the noise-witness signals have been subtracted except the noise-witness channel of interest, in order to isolate each noise channel contribution. The coherence between $h_{1\text{Noise}}$ and the noise-witness channel is also computed over T = 500 s and if, in a frequency bin, this coherence is above a certain threshold (4% in O3), the TF is updated with the new value. Else, the TF is set to 0 in this frequency bin. More details on the method used to perform noise subtraction can be found in [37].

During O3, the noise subtraction has been done in an iterative way, on a one-by-one basis, for each noise-witness channel and following the same order of table 6. An issue of this method is that correlations among noise-witness channels are not taken into account. Checks on the coherence between the various noise-witness channels were done during the O3 commissioning run to study if several noise-witness channels were observing the same noise. The frequency band at which each noise-witness channel is considered is selected so that the present noise is only removed once. A caveat of this approach is that any changes on the coherence among noise-witness channels due to changes on the interferometer are not automatically taken into account and, as a consequence, regular and manual checks on these quantities should be performed to avoid adding noise to h(t). To tackle this issue, a new method consisting on the

linear subtraction of coupled noises, based on [35], is being implemented for the next observing run O4.

7.4.2. Selection of noise-witness channels. Witness channels identified before the O3 observing run with sufficient reliability have been used to monitor the presence of noise in $h_{raw}(t)$ and to subtract them. These noises are summarized in table 6.

Michelson noise: the motion of the BS mirror creates a differential signal between the two interferometer arms. Compared to the arm cavity mirrors the impact of this motion is reduced by the optical gain of the arm Fabry–Perot cavity. But the Michelson control noise is much higher than the differential arm length control noise. It yields a non-negligible contribution to the overall interferometer noise. To subtract this noise contribution, the control signal LSC_MICH is used as witness channel.

Frequency noise: the two arm cavities of the interferometer are kept in resonance, and if there is a variation of this state, a change in the phase of the reflected light induces a change of the interference observed. But this change of the interference profile can also be caused by a laser frequency noise in the cavities. In principle, the laser frequency noise induces common variations in the North and West arm cavities and its effect may be canceled thanks to the interference condition. Nevertheless, any optical asymmetry of the arm cavities yields to a non-zero contribution. The laser frequency noise is monitored by the B2 photodiode, used as a noise-witness channel, which sees the laser beam coming back from the interferometer to the input laser.

56 MHz RIN noise: the output mode cleaner cavity (OMC) filters out the non TEM00¹⁰⁴ modes of the output laser beam created by optical defaults and misalignments, and the radio frequency sidebands used for interferometer control [31]. In practice, a small fraction of these modes and sidebands is transmitted by the OMC and add phase variations in the dark fringe signal. It was found that the largest contribution to these variations comes from the power fluctuations of the auxiliary modulation at \pm 56 MHz, known as 56 MHz relative intensity noise. Such contribution can be subtracted from *h*(*t*) by using the reflected power of the OMC as a noise witness channel.

Scattered light noise: another noise contribution to be considered is the scattered light from the benches in transmission of the NE and WE mirrors, which can re-couple back into the beam of the interferometer arms. This light reflects on optics that move with seismic noise and can thus add phase noise into the arm beams. Photodiodes on both end benches are sensitive to this scattered light and thus used as noise-witness channel. Further details on scattered light can be found in [38].

The witness channels used for the Michelson noise and the frequency noise were partially coherent in the band 50 to 150 Hz. The noise subtraction process did not take into account this coherence. It was thus needed to subtract those two noises in separate frequency bands. The limit between those two noise was set between 60 and 150 Hz and was changed a few times during O3, as summarized in table 6. The rest of noise-witness channels were not coherent, hence frequency ranges with some overlap could be used.

7.4.3. Performances during O3. The use of these noise-witness channels in the noise subtraction of h(t) during O3 allowed to improve the overall sensitivity, especially in the 10–50 Hz frequency band, as shown in figure 14, which translated into a gain of up to 7 Mpc on the

¹⁰⁴ Transverse electromagnetic mode of the laser beam.



Figure 14. Spectra of h(t) (green) and $h_{raw}(t)$ (blue) showing the main sensitivity improvement due to noise subtraction and calibration lines removal in the middle of O3. This improvement increased the BNS range by 7 Mpc. Purple and red lines shows the same spectra near the end of O3, after some noise reduction has been done on the interferometer control loops.



Figure 15. Coherence between $h_{\text{raw}}(t)$ and the noise witness channels used in the middle of O3. The overlap between the frequency bands where LSC_MICH and SIB2_B2_8MHz_I are coherent with $h_{\text{raw}}(t)$ required the use of the two frequency bands of table 6. Purple lines show the same coherence plots near the end of O3.

binary neutron star (BNS) range. The main contributors to this improvement were the frequency noise (see figure 15) and the 56 MHz RIN noise which showed coherence with h_{raw} over a large frequency band.

Figure 16 shows the sensitivity and the BNS range obtained during O3 thanks to the h(t) reconstruction and after noise subtraction.

During the last two weeks of O3a, from 16 to 30 September 2019, commissioning activities that changed the interferometer working point multiple times were undertaken (tuning



(a) O3a and O3b best sensitivity curves.



(b) BNS range evolutin during the O3 run.



of etalon effect in the input cavity mirrors). As a consequence, the coupling of the some noise changed during that period, in particular for the frequency noise. A reprocessing of the reconstruction was run offline for that period, with lower minimal frequency for this noise witness channel (see table 6). It resulted in a gain of up to 3 Mpc compared to the online noise subtraction [39]. The h(t) time series associated to this reprocessing is called V1:Hrec_hoft_V1O3ARepro1A_16384Hz.

8. Estimation of h(t) uncertainties

The Virgo h(t) uncertainties during O3 were estimated using hardware injections and comparing the reconstructed h(t) to those known forced motion applied to the end mirrors. The excitation were applied on NE and WE mirrors via different actuators: EM actuators (channels zHI_i), PCals [15] (channels $\mathcal{P}_i^{\text{ref}}$) and NCals [25]. They consisted of sinusoidal signals at specific frequencies and of broad-band noise. In practice, the reconstructed channel h_{clean} was used for this study, since the hardware injections were subtracted in the final h(t) channel. But, for coherence with figures, we will write $h_{\text{rec}}(t)$ everywhere in this section. By performing TFs from $h_{\text{clean}}(t)$ to h(t), it was checked that the subtraction of the hardware injections does not modify the results: the TFs are equal to 1, except at the frequencies of the subtracted hardware injections (as expected). Hence the estimated uncertainties are valid for both the intermediate $h_{\text{clean}}(h_{\text{rec}})$ and the final h(t) channel.

The h(t) data stream is validated across the entire detection band, from 10 Hz to 1.5 kHz, at roughly weekly cadence. During this calibration process, the interferometer is in its standard working point but it is declared out of observing mode while excitation signals are applied to the end test masses. In addition, a few permanent sinusoidal excitation signals were applied with lower SNR (order of 10) to monitor the stability of h(t) uncertainties over the run. Such data provide a continuous measurement of the systematic error at only a few selected frequencies inside the most sensitive band of the detector (30 Hz to 400 Hz). The overall O3 systematic uncertainties of the Virgo strain during O3 are estimated assessing the stability of the different measurements done every week (with high SNR) at a larger number of frequencies and done permanently (with lower SNR) at a few frequencies.

The h(t) uncertainties analysis has been done separately for O3a and O3b. The equivalent strain excitation h_{inj} has been estimated from the raw excitation signals and the most up-to-date actuator models computed using all the O3 data as described in section 5. Ideally, the TF from the excitation signal to the strain data is expected to be 1. Deviations from this ideal value may come from a bias in the h(t) channel, but also from an inaccurate actuation model. Using different actuators and actuator models based on independent calibration techniques allows to conclude about the origin of the discrepancy to 1.

Some calibration variations of the PCal actuators have been seen during O3, mainly in relation with humidity [15] and have impacted the TF from the PCal excitation to h(t), as well as its temporal variations. The EM actuators are expected to have a stable response. Two different models have been computed for these actuators, the reference one based on the PCal, and the one based on the free swinging Michelson technique used for cross validation.

In the h(t) reconstruction process, the optical model used for the cavity of finesse \mathcal{F} is approximated by a simple cavity pole. The exact response is given in equation (28) of [12]. Up to 2 kHz, the approximation is good within 0.5% in amplitude and it is biased by 13 μ s in timing [40]. When using the h(t) channel later in the gravitational wave searches, another approximation is done by using the antenna response as the one of a point-like interferometer. The errors from both approximations nicely cancels out to within 0.1% in amplitude and 3 μ s in timing below 2 kHz [40].

Comparing the reconstructed detector strain, h_{rec} , directly to the injected mirror motion, h_{inj} would reveal the error from the simple cavity pole approximation, mainly as a 10 μ s difference in the case of Virgo interferometer. In this section, the estimated injected signal h_{inj} has been computed as

$$h_{\rm inj} = N \times \frac{A}{L_0} \times e^{-2j\pi f\tau} \times \frac{\mathrm{TF}_{\rm pole}}{\mathrm{TF}_{\rm true}}$$
(10)



Figure 17. Evolution of the $h_{\text{rec}}/h_{\text{inj}}$ TF as function of time at 163.2 Hz during O3a, with h_{inj} estimated from NE PCal.

with N the noise excitation channel, A the actuator TF, L_0 the arm cavity length and $\tau = 10 \ \mu s$ due to the difference between the interferometer response to a gravitational wave and to a real motion of the end mirror, and $j^2 = -1$. TF_{pole} is the simple pole approximation (with pole frequency f_p) and TF_{true} is the exact response defined as:

$$TF_{pole} = \frac{1 - jx}{1 + x^2} \quad \text{with } x = \frac{f}{f_p}$$
(11)

$$TF_{true} = \frac{1 - \alpha}{1 - \alpha e^{-4\pi fT}} \quad \text{with } \alpha = \frac{\mathcal{F}}{\pi + \mathcal{F}} \quad \text{and} \quad T = \frac{L_0}{c}.$$
 (12)

With this expression of h_{inj} , the ratio h_{rec}/h_{inj} is expected to be 1, with no timing difference from the cavity response model approximation.

8.1. Weekly measurements with sinusoidal excitation

Injections of sinusoidal excitation on the end mirrors, between 10 Hz and 1.5 kHz, have been done every week and the TF from the injected equivalent strain h_{inj} to the reconstructed strain h_{rec} has been computed. Figure 17 shows the modulus and phase of this TF as function of time, measured using PCal as actuator, at 163.2 Hz during O3a. When averaged over time, the modulus and phase are close to 1 and 0 as expected, but with 3% and 8 mrad offset respectively: it gives the average bias on the reconstructed strain channel at this frequency. However, time variations are seen, which indicates the presence of additional and time-dependent errors on the strain channel.



Figure 18. Statistical and systematic errors estimation on the $h_{\rm rec}/h_{\rm inj}$ TF during O3a, with $h_{\rm inj}$ estimated from NE PCal. The errors on the amplitude are expressed in (%) and the errors on the phase are expressed in (mrad). (Left) Statistical errors on the amplitude (red filled squares) of the calibration transfer as a function of frequency and statistical plus systematic errors (red empty circles) estimation to have a *p*-value >0.05. (Right) Statistical errors (blue empty circles) estimation to have a *p*-value >0.05.

Table 7. Summary of the uncertainties on the h(t) bias, estimated from time variations of weekly measurements of $h_{\rm rec}/h_{\rm inj}$ TF during O3a and O3b, in the range 20 Hz to 1500 Hz. Four different actuators have been used to excite the NE and WE mirrors and to estimate $h_{\rm inj}$: for both mirrors, the PCal actuator and the EM actuator have been used. Similar type of variations have been estimated with permanent monitoring as described later in section 8.3.

	Actuator	NE PCal	NE EM	WE PCal	WE EM
O3a	Modulus error	0.4%	0.3%	0.4%	0.3%
O3a	Phase error (mrad)	4	3	4	3
O3b	Modulus error	0.4%	0.6%	0.5%	0.5%
O3b	Phase error (mrad)	4	5	6	6

The level of variations has been estimated following the same method as described in section 5.2.3. Figure 18 shows the estimated errors on the modulus and phase at the frequencies of the weekly sinusoidal injections. Above 20 Hz, conservative systematic uncertainties of 0.4% on modulus and 4 mrad on phase can be used to take into account the differences between the weekly injections data.

Such analysis has been done for O3a and O3b separately, with hardware injections using the four type of actuators, PCal and EM actuators of NE and WE mirrors. The associated errors are summarized in the table 7.

Some sources of time variations have been identified. Since they had small or no impact on the strain data channel, no reprocessing of the strain data has been done and the variations have been included in the overall errors. During O3a, the NE EM actuators had some digital communication issues from 10 to 20 June 2019: it resulted in a phase for this actuator slightly modified during that period, by about 10 μ s. However, the validation of h(t) with the hardware injections performed with the other actuators has shown that it had small impact on the strain data channel bias, well lower than 1% in amplitude and 1 mrad in phase.



Figure 19. Average of O3a weekly $h_{\rm rec}/h_{\rm inj}$ TFs estimated from hardware injections using four different actuators: EM and PCal for both mirrors. Two different calibration models of EM actuators have been used: the reference one, based on PCal technique, and an independent one, based on free swinging Michelson technique. Only statistical errors are shown. The red lines indicate bands of $\pm 3.9\%$ in modulus and ± 30 mrad in phase.

During O3b, on 17 December 2019, the PCal digital anti-aliasing filter has been slightly modified, changing the PCal readout by 2.8 μ s. This had no impact on the strain data channel, but it had an impact on the estimation of h_{inj} when using the PCal for the analysis described in this section.

On 28 January 2020, in order to reduce their electronics noise, the two photodiodes used at the interferometer output and sensitive to the GW signal, as well as their analogue electronics, have been changed. From then until the end of O3b, the reconstructed strain data channel had an extra 1 μ s delay. This is also well within the estimated timing uncertainty.

The errors being small, all the weekly measured TFs have been averaged over O3a and over O3b and are shown in figures 19 and 20 respectively. The results obtained for the four different actuators are included. For the EM actuators, two different models have been used: the reference one based on the PCal technique, and the one extracted from the free swinging Michelson technique.

A systematic frequency-dependent bias is seen, up to 1.5 kHz, using the four different actuators and using independent calibration based on both PCal and free swinging Michelson techniques. It has been seen also up to 120 Hz with a third independent actuator, the NCal [25]. It is thus excluded that the bias comes from errors on the estimated injected signals h_{inj} , and it hence confirms that there is a true bias in the reconstructed h(t) strain channel. The



Figure 20. Average of O3b weekly $h_{\rm rec}/h_{\rm inj}$ TFs estimated from hardware injections using four different actuators: EM and PCal for both mirrors. Two different calibration models of EM actuators have been used: the reference one, based on PCal technique, and an independent one, based on free swinging Michelson technique. Only statistical errors are shown. The red lines indicate bands of $\pm 3.9\%$ in modulus and ± 30 mrad in phase.

red lines on figures 19 and 20 show the (symmetric) bands that contain all the PCal-based measurements, within $\pm 3.9\%$ in modulus and ± 30 mrad in phase. At high frequency, the phase goes out of this band as it can be interpreted as a bias on the timing of h(t): for a mistiming of $\Delta \tau$, the phase bias increases with frequency f as $\Delta \Phi = -2\pi \times f \times \Delta \tau$. The reconstructed h(t) channel looks to be slightly in advance, by about 7 μ s and 6 μ s during O3a and O3b respectively.

The actuator calibration based on free swinging Michelson technique is less sensitivity at high frequency and the fitted model is less precise, which explains the increasing deviation from the measurements based on photon calibration (see section 6). The actuation delay is also less constrained using the free swinging Michelson technique: a difference of about $-5 \mu s$ is seen with respect to the photon calibration results. The larger phase bias seen on the measurements based on free swinging Michelson technique mainly comes from this extra-delay, which corresponds to about 3 mrad around the maximum of the bias at 100 Hz.

Another method to cross-check the absolute amplitude of the reconstructed h(t) strain using light scattered by the optical benches in transmission of the NE and WE mirrors has been proposed in [38]. A first estimate, but still with 5% systematic uncertainties, confirmed the reconstructed h(t) amplitude up to 30 Hz.

At high frequency, in particular above 1.5 kHz, the h(t) reconstruction is much simpler since the interferometer controls are negligible in this band: the reconstruction is dominated by the output power \mathcal{P}_{DC} signal and the models for the photodiode readout and interferometer optical response. Hence, no unexpected additional bias is foreseen in particular in the 1.5 kHz to 2 kHz band of interest for high frequency data analysis. The fact that, in the range 500 Hz to 1.5 kHz, the measured h_{rec}/h_{inj} ratio is mainly flat in modulus and following a delay in phase confirms that this assumption seems correct. In addition, injections at higher frequencies were done with the PCal, in the range 4 to 7 kHz. In this range, the PCal actuation response is known to within about 15% only. They also confirm that the amplitude of the reconstructed detector strain is still under control within uncertainties lower than 15% at 4 kHz [41]. From these information, we can extend up to 2 kHz, the h(t) uncertainties measured up to 1.5 kHz.

8.2. Weekly measurements with broadband excitation

Injections of broadband signal on the end test masses have been run every week and the TFs from the injected equivalent strain h_{inj} to the reconstructed strain h_{rec} have been computed too. They do not allow a monitoring of time variation as precise as with high SNR sinusoidal signals, as described in previous section. The comparison of weekly measurements is thus limited by statistical errors. But they allow to estimate potential strain data errors in the whole detection frequency band. No particular issue has been found except around 50 Hz as shown below. Two different errors on h(t) have been found, both related to control loops using the main output of the interferometer, \mathcal{P}_{DC} , as error signal:

- (a) one at 50 Hz, related to the mains power line and the control loop set up during O3 for its subtraction,
- (b) one in the band 46–51 Hz related to the online control loop set up between O3a and O3b to damp some mechanical resonances of the suspensions at 48 Hz.

It was first seen analysing the NCal O3b data [25] and was then confirmed with further analysis of injections done with PCal and EM actuators as described in this section.

Figure 21 shows the ratio $h_{\rm rec}/h_{\rm inj}$ for hardware injections of broadband noise done with the NE mirror EM actuator, during O3a (left) and O3b (right). Data from different weeks are shown in different colors. The results are similar when using other end mirror actuators. On figures 21(a) and (c), one can see that, during O3a, only a few bins around 50 Hz are not within the margin shown as red lines ($\pm 3.9\%$ in modulus and ± 30 mrad in phase), mainly due to a lack of coherence between $h_{\rm rec}$ and $h_{\rm inj}$.

During O3b, an additional effect appeared, with a bias in modulus and phase on a larger frequency band, which reaches 40% in modulus and 600 mrad in phase as shown in figure 21(b). From the zoom shown in figure 21(d), one can see that the bias exceeds the standard limits between 46 Hz and 51 Hz.

These effects have been taken into account when estimating the strain data uncertainty in section 8.4.

8.3. Permanent monitoring of h(t) during O3

During O3, a set of 12 permanent sinusoidal signals, listed in tables 8 and 9, were injected on the end mirrors via the PCal and EM actuators. They allow a continuous comparison of the reconstructed strain data h_{rec} with the injected equivalent strain h_{inj} in the most sensitive band of the detector, between 35 Hz and 400 Hz. Some of those sinusoidal injections are in the regions where the bias of the strain channel is the highest (100 to 200 Hz for the amplitude and 60 to 90 Hz for the phase). Hence they are used to monitor any time variations of this bias.



(c) O3a, injections with NE EM actuator: zoom (d) O3b, injections with NE EM actuator: zoom

Figure 21. Weekly measurements of h_{raw}/h_{inj} TF using the NE EM actuator, shown in different colors, zoomed in the band 40 to 60 Hz. (Left) O3a. (Right) O3b. (Top) Full *y*-scale. (Bottom) Zoom on *y*-scale. Red lines indicate bands of $\pm 3.9\%$ in modulus and ± 30 mrad in phase.

The time evolution of this $h_{\rm rec}$ to $h_{\rm inj}$ comparison provides an other estimate of the error on h(t). The modulus and phase of the $h_{\rm rec}/h_{\rm inj}$ TFs at the twelve injected frequencies were computed online using a moving average of twelve 10 s long FFTs and provided in the online data stream as channels sampled at 1 Hz [28, 29]. The h_{inj} signals were estimated with online models set at the beginning of O3 and were not updated in this processing during O3. As such, the monitoring of these channels is a test of the possible variations of the reconstructed strain data, as well as of the small variations of the actuator responses as described earlier. Yet, this method does not enable to check the absolute value of the strain data bias: they are not precise witness of the absolute value of the strain data bias. The distributions of the online modulus and phase have been built over O3a and O3b and their standard deviations are reported in tables 8 and 9. For every injected signal, the typical SNR during O3a is also given, as well as the expected standard deviation of the modulus in case of statistical fluctuations only. The measured variations during O3a are all larger than the expected statistics fluctuations only: this indicates that these monitoring channels indeed highlight time variations of the $h_{\rm rec}/h_{\rm ini}$ ratio. These variations can be considered as the systematic uncertainties on this ratio and have been estimated by subtracting quadratically the expected statistical fluctuations from the measured standard deviation. They are shown, for O3a and O3b, in the plots of figure 22. For O3a and

Table 8. Sinusoidal permanent hardware injections used during O3a to monitor the accuracy of h(t) reconstruction. For the four different end test mass actuators, the injected line frequency is given with the typical SNR estimated during O3a, the expected standard deviation σ_{stat} of the $h_{\text{rec}}/h_{\text{inj}}$ modulus in case of statistical fluctuations only, and the measured standard deviations of the modulus (σ_{mod}) and of the phase (σ_{phi}) of $h_{\text{rec}}/h_{\text{inj}}$ during O3a.

Actuator	Line freq.	Line SNR	$\sigma_{ m stat}$	O3a $\sigma_{\rm mod}$	O3a $\sigma_{\rm phi}$
NE EM	37.5 Hz	3	1.06%	1.57%	15.8 mrad
NE EM	77.5 Hz	4.5	0.70%	1.58%	15.5 mrad
NE EM	107.5 Hz	13	0.25%	0.60%	6.8 mrad
NE EM	137.5 Hz	7.5	0.43%	1.00%	10.1 mrad
NE PCal	34.5 Hz	6	0.37%	0.95%	9.1 mrad
NE PCal	63.5 Hz	25	0.09%	0.32%	2.3 mrad
WE EM	56.5 Hz	5	0.66%	1.40%	13.9 mrad
WE EM	106.5 Hz	11	0.29%	0.71%	7.3 mrad
WE EM	206.5 Hz	11	0.29%	0.71%	6.2 mrad
WE EM	406.5 Hz	9.5	0.34%	0.79%	7.6 mrad
WE PCal	36.5 Hz	5	0.44%	0.90%	8.4 mrad
WE PCal	60.5 Hz	22	0.10%	0.35%	2.5 mrad

Table 9. Sinusoidal permanent hardware injections used during O3b to monitor the accuracy of h(t) reconstruction. For the four different end test mass actuators, the injected line frequency is given with the typical SNR estimated during O3b, the expected standard deviation σ_{stat} of the $h_{\text{rec}}/h_{\text{inj}}$ modulus in case of statistical fluctuations only, and the measured standard deviations of the modulus (σ_{mod}) and of the phase (σ_{phi}) of $h_{\text{rec}}/h_{\text{inj}}$ during O3b.

Actuator	Line freq.	Line SNR	$\sigma_{ m stat}$	O3b $\sigma_{ m mod}$	O3b $\sigma_{\rm phi}$
NE EM	37.5 Hz	11	0.29%	0.77%	8.9 mrad
NE EM	77.5 Hz	7	0.46%	1.20%	12.0 mrad
NE EM	107.5 Hz	16	0.20%	0.55%	6.4 mrad
NE EM	137.5 Hz	9	0.36%	0.91%	10.0 mrad
NE PCal	34.5 Hz	12	0.18%	0.53%	5.5 mrad
NE PCal	63.5 Hz	41	0.06%	0.34%	1.8 mrad
WE EM	56.5 Hz	7	0.46%	1.05%	10.6 mrad
WE EM	106.5 Hz	14	0.23%	0.62%	7.1 mrad
WE EM	206.5 Hz	15	0.22%	0.73%	5.8 mrad
WE EM	406.5 Hz	12	0.27%	0.77%	7.4 mrad
WE PCal	36.5 Hz	14	0.16%	0.54%	6.7 mrad
WE PCal	60.5 Hz	47	0.04%	0.34%	2.0 mrad

O3b, the modulus systematic uncertainty at 137.5 Hz is estimated to be 0.9%, while the phase systematic uncertainty is estimated to be 9 mrad. The maximum variations, at the level of 1.4% in modulus and 14 mrad phase during O3a, include contributions from both h(t) and the actuator responses. They have been used to estimate conservative uncertainties on h(t) as described in the following section.



Figure 22. (Left) Systematic uncertainties on $h_{\rm rec}/h_{\rm inj}$ module computed as the quadratic difference between the measured uncertainties and the computed statistical uncertainties. Statistical uncertainties have been computed using an SNR estimated at GPS = 1251 525 400 for O3a (blue empty circles) and GPS = 1265 000 000 for O3b (red filled squares) [29]. It was checked that the SNR during the run was consistent with these estimations within 20%. (Right) Systematic uncertainties on $h_{\rm rec}/h_{\rm inj}$ phase computed as the quadratic difference between the measured uncertainties and the computed statistical uncertainties. Statistical uncertainties have been computed on the basis of [17].

8.4. h(t) uncertainties

The uncertainties on the reconstructed strain channel h(t) can be estimated from the results given in the previous sections. For O3, they have been estimated as frequency-independent symmetric uncertainties in the band 20 Hz to 2 kHz, except for a small band around 50 Hz where they are significantly larger.

First, a systematic frequency-dependent bias is present in the reconstructed channel h(t), as shown in figures 19 and 20: it is observed, regardless of the actuator used for the measurement (EM actuator or PCal, as shown in this paper, but also NCal as shown in [25]). This bias is within $\pm 3.9\%$ in modulus and ± 30 mrad in phase, the biggest bias being around 140 Hz for the modulus and around 90 Hz for the phase. The estimation of this systematic bias has some uncertainties coming from the estimation of the hardware injection signal using the actuator models. They are estimated to a maximum of 1.84% in modulus and 6.7 mrad in phase for the EM actuators and 1.73% in modulus for the PCals (see table 3).

In addition, some time variations of this systematic bias must be taken into account. Weekly cadence measurements have shown variations at the level of 0.6% in modulus and 6 mrad in phase (see table 7). However, continuous monitoring of the bias at few frequencies in the Virgo sensitive band, and in particular around the frequencies where the bias is the largest, have shown that the variations were a bit larger, of the order of 1.4% and 14 mrad during O3a, and of 1.1% and 11 mrad during O3b (see section 8.3).

The conservative frequency-independent symmetric uncertainties on the amplitude and on the phase of the reconstructed strain channel h(t) during O3 have been estimated summing quadratically the maximum estimated bias (3.9%, 30 mrad), its uncertainty coming from actuator model knowledge (1.8%, 7 mrad) and its time variations estimated continuously during O3 (1.4%, 14 mrad). The total uncertainty on the h(t) amplitude is thus 4.5% and the total uncertainty on the h(t) phase is estimated to 34 mrad.

Table 10. Summary of the uncertainty on the reconstructed Virgo detector strain h(t) during the run O3: it includes both the h(t) bias and the uncertainties on this bias. For both periods O3a and O3b, the uncertainties are given for the h(t) amplitude, phase and timing in the band 20 Hz to 2 kHz. The given uncertainties are mainly frequency-independent, except for some bands close to 50 Hz where uncertainties are larger.

		20 Hz-2 kHz	46 to 51 Hz	49.5 to 50.5 Hz
O3a	h(t) amplitude h(t) phase h(t) timing	\pm ± 35 ± 1	5% mrad 0 μs	Do not use
O3b	h(t) amplitude h(t) phase h(t) timing	$\pm 5\%$ ± 35 mrad $\pm 10~\mu s$	$\pm40\%$ ±600 mrad ±10 μ s	Do not use

As described in section 8.2, the uncertainties are larger around 50 Hz, especially during O3b.

An uncertainty on the absolute timing of the reconstructed Virgo strain channel h(t) has been also estimated. Comparing the reconstructed strain channel to the hardware injections (see section 8.1), a timing bias estimation of 7 μ s has been found. The uncertainty on the timing of the PCal hardware injections has been estimated to 3 μ s during O3a, with an additional error of 2.8 μ s during O3b (see section 5.2.1). During O3b, an additional 1 μ s error must be added after the detector photodiodes were changed early 2020. Summing quadratically these sources of errors, the total uncertainty on the timing of the reconstructed strain channel has been estimated at 8 μ s.

The uncertainties on the Virgo reconstructed strain channel h(t) in the range 20 Hz to 2 kHz during the O3 run are conservatively given as frequency-independent uncertainties at the values summarized in table 10. These uncertainties encompass the h(t) frequency-dependent bias, the uncertainties on this bias and its variations as a function of time. In this sense, they represent upper and lower bounds on the h(t) uncertainty: they overestimate the uncertainty if they are interpreted as one-sigma deviations at each frequency.

9. Conclusion

We have described the advanced Virgo detector calibration, the h(t) reconstruction and the linear noise subtraction methods used in the O3 observing run in 2019/2020. For the first time, the photon calibration technique was used as reference for the Virgo detector calibration, after the Virgo PCals have been cross-calibrated with LIGO ones. This technique was used to calibrate the NE, WE, BS, PR, NI and WI mirror and marionette actuators. The actuator models are inputs for the reconstruction of the h(t) detector strain signal. The h(t) bias and associated uncertainty have been estimated from weekly measurements, as during O2, but also from continuous hardware injections setup for O3. Independent calibration methods, based on the old free swinging Michelson technique and on the new Newtonian calibration technique, have been used to cross-check the results. For the O3 run, we estimated the upper limit on h(t) bias and associated uncertainty to be 5% in amplitude, 35 mrad in phase and 10 μ s in timing in most of the sensitive frequency band 20-2000 Hz, with an exception around 50 Hz as detailed in section 8.4. The h(t) time series will be available publicly in GWOSC [32]. The time series is called V1:Hrec_hoft_16384Hz for most of the data (online reconstruction), and it is called V1:Hrec_hoft_V1O3ARepro1A_16384Hz for the last two weeks of September 2019 for which the data were reprocessed to optimize noise subtraction.

Most of the transient gravitational wave events detected in the O3 observing run and described in [10] had SNR below 5 in the Virgo detector. Their detection is insensitive to the few-percent level calibration uncertainties achieved [42]. However, improvements in the astro-physical parameter estimation are on-going, in particular to take into account the frequency-dependent calibration bias and uncertainties [43]. It confirms the need for providing more accurate calibration and frequency-dependent estimation of the uncertainties for future observation periods.

In view of the next observing rung, O4, to start end 2022, the PCal system is being improved to reduce its calibration uncertainties. However, the h(t) bias and associated uncertainty are dominated by contributions from other sources in the different actuator calibration steps and in the h(t) reconstruction. In addition, the Newtonian calibration technique is being further developed with the goal to provide another calibration method with similar uncertainties as those from the PCal for the O4 run, leading to a more precise understanding of the h(t) bias and uncertainties. With two such precise estimations of the h(t) bias and uncertainties in the most sensitive band of the Virgo detector, frequency-dependent bias and uncertainties will be derived.

Acknowledgments

The authors gratefully acknowledge the Italian Istituto Nazionale di Fisica Nucleare (INFN), the French Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique (CNRS) and the Netherlands Organization for Scientific Research (NWO), for the construction and operation of the Virgo detector and the creation and support of the EGO consortium. The authors also gratefully acknowledge research support from these agencies as well as by the Spanish Agencia Estatal de Investigación, the Consellera d'Innovació, Universitats, Ciència i Societat Digital de la Generalitat Valenciana and the CERCA Programme Generalitat de Catalunya, Spain, the National Science Centre of Poland and the European Union-European Regional Development Fund; Foundation for Polish Science (FNP), the Hungarian Scientific Research Fund (OTKA), the French Lyon Institute of Origins (LIO), the Belgian Fonds de la Recherche Scientifique (FRS-FNRS), Actions de Recherche Concertées (ARC) and Fonds Wetenschappelijk Onderzoek-Vlaanderen (FWO), Belgium, the European Commission. The authors gratefully acknowledge the support of the NSF, STFC, INFN, CNRS and Nikhef for provision of computational resources. We would like to thank all of the essential workers who put their health at risk during the COVID-19 pandemic, without whom we would not have been able to complete this work.

Data availability statement

The data that support the findings of this study are available upon reasonable request from the authors.

ORCID iDs

F Acernese https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3103-3473 L Rolland https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0589-9687 M Seglar-Arroyo https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8654-409X

References

- [1] Accadia T *et al* (Virgo Collaboration) 2012 The AdV technical design report *VIR-0128A-12* https://tds.virgo-gw.eu/ql/?c=8940
- [2] Acernese F et al (Virgo Collaboration) 2015 Class. Quantum Grav. 32 024001
- [3] Acernese F et al (Virgo Collaboration) 2019 Phys. Rev. Lett. 123 231108
- [4] Mehmet M and Vahlbruch H 2020 Galaxies 8 79
- [5] Aasi J et al (LIGO Scientific Collaboration) 2015 Class. Quantum Grav. 32 074001
- [6] Buikema A et al (LIGO Scientific Collaboration) 2020 Phys. Rev. D 102 062003
- [7] Viets A D et al 2018 Class. Quantum Grav. 35 095015
- [8] Abbott B P et al (KAGRA Collaboration, LIGO Scientific Collaboration and Virgo Collaboration) 2018 Living Rev. Relativ. 21 3
- [9] The Gravitational-Wave Candidate Event Database (GraceDB) https://gracedb.ligo.org/ superevents/public/O3/
- [10] Abbott R et al (LIGO Scientific Collaboration and Virgo Collaboration) 2021 Phys. Rev. X 11 021053
- [11] Meers B J 1988 Phys. Rev. D 38 2317-26
- [12] Rakhmanov M, Romano J D and Whelan J T 2008 Class. Quantum Grav. 25 184017
- [13] Accadia T et al (Virgo Collaboration) 2014 Class. Quantum Grav. 31 165013
- [14] Abbott B P et al (Virgo Collaboration) 2018 Class. Quantum Grav. 35 205004
- [15] Estevez D, Lagabbe P, Masserot A, Rolland L, Seglar-Arroyo M and Verkindt D 2021 Class. Quantum Grav. 38 075007
- [16] Karki S et al (LIGO Scientific Collaboration) 2016 Rev. Sci. Instrum. 87 114503
- [17] Accadia T et al (Virgo Collaboration) 2011 Class. Quantum Grav. 28 025005
- [18] Sun L et al (LIGO Scientific Collaboration) 2020 Class. Quantum Grav. 37 225008
- [19] Virgo Collaboration 2002 Class. Quantum Grav. 19 1623–9
- [20] Aisa D et al 2016 Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res. A 824 644-5
- [21] Allocca A et al 2020 Galaxies 8 85
- [22] Estevez D, Lieunard B, Marion F, Mours B, Rolland L and Verkindt D 2018 Class. Quantum Grav. 35 235009
- [23] Ross M P et al Initial results from the LIGO Newtonian calibrator (arXiv:2107.00141)
- [24] Inoue Y, Haino S, Kanda N, Ogawa Y, Suzuki T, Tomaru T, Yamamoto T and Yokozawa T 2018 Phys. Rev. D 98 022005
- [25] Estevez D, Mours B and Pradier T 2021 *Class. Quantum Grav.* **38** 075012
- [26] Estevez D, Rolland L and Verkindt D 2019 Advanced Virgo calibration for O3: calibration based on free swinging Michelson VIR-0529A-19 https://tds.virgo-gw.eu/ql/?c=14362
- [27] Bhattacharjee D, Lecoeuche Y, Karki S, Betzwieser J, Bossilkov V, Kandhasamy S, Payne E and Savage R L 2020 Class. Quantum Grav. 38 015009
- [28] Verkindt D 2021 Transfer functions monitor (TFMoni) users manual VIR-059A-21 https://tds.virgo-gw.eu/ql/?c=16707
- [29] Verkindt D, Rolland L, Seglar-Arroyo M and Estevez D 2021 Advanced Virgo calibration monitoring during the observing run O3 VIR-0544A-21 https://tds.virgo-gw.eu/?content=3 & r=16792
- [30] Berni F and Verkindt D 2017 New detector monitoring system (DMS) software project VIR-0433A-17 https://tds.virgo-gw.eu/ql/?c=12364
- [31] Bonnand R, Ducrot M, Gouaty R, Marion F, Masserot A, Mours B, Pacaud E, Rolland L and Was M 2017 Class. Quantum Grav. 34 175002
- [32] LIGO Scientific Collaboration, Virgo Collaboration and KAGRA Collaboration 2021 https://gwopenscience.org/ (Gravitational Wave Open Science Center)
- [33] Viets A D et al 2018 Class. Quantum Grav. 35 095015
- [34] Driggers J C et al 2019 Phys. Rev. D 99 042001
- [35] Davis D, Massinger T, Lundgren A, Driggers J C, Urban A L and Nuttall L 2019 Class. Quantum Grav. 36 055011
- [36] Vajente G, Huang Y, Isi M, Driggers J C, Kissel J S, Szczepańczyk M and Vitale S 2020 Phys. Rev. D 101 042003
- [37] Estevez D, Mours B, Rolland L, Seglar-Arroyo M and Verkindt D 2020 Hrec package documentation VIR-0590A-20 https://tds.virgo-gw.eu/?content=3 & r=17373
- [38] Was M, Gouaty R and Bonnand R 2021 Class. Quantum Grav. 38 075020

- [39] Rolland L, Seglar-Arroyo M and Verkindt D 2019 Reprocessing of h(t) for the last two weeks of O3a VIR-1201A-19 https://tds.virgo-gw.eu/ql/?c=15041
- [40] Rolland L 2015 Notes on single-pole cavity approximation and long-wavelength interferometer approximations VIR-0530A-15 https://tds.virgo-gw.eu/ql/?c=11260
- [41] Estevez D 2020 Upgrade of advanced Virgo photon calibrators and first intercalibration of Virgo and LIGO detectors for the observing run O3 *Theses* Université Savoie Mont Blanc https://tel. archives-ouvertes.fr/tel-03337258
- [42] Lindblom L 2009 Phys. Rev. D 80 042005
- [43] Vitale S, Haster C J, Sun L, Farr B, Goetz E, Kissel J and Cahillane C 2021 Phys. Rev. D 103 063016